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Our vision: 
A just and compassionate  
society where everyone thrives. 

Our purpose: 
To empower and educate for  
personal and societal change.

Our values:
•	Optimism
•	Integrity
•	Respect
•	Collaboration
•	Effectiveness 

The Benevolent Society was pleased to be recognised as one of 10 finalists in the 
revenue greater than $30m category in the 2012 PwC Transparency Awards for the 
quality and transparency of our reporting.
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How our work is funded
The graphs on these pages show  
a six year summary of trends for  
key areas of our operations.

Our financial statements on page 35  
provide detailed information about 
our performance over the past 
financial year. 

To find out more about the regulatory 
framework within which we operate, 
turn to page 43.

 
Staff

See page 30 to read about what we’re 
doing to build a better workplace.
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Visit www.benevolent.org.au to see the 
communities where we work.

Revenue ($millions)
 

20

40

60

80

100

55 60 62

78

84

92

See page 35 to read our full Financial 
Statements.

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

See page 31 to read about the  
contribution our volunteers make.

See page 67 for a full breakdown of our funding.
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Government funding

Corporate & private 
contributions

Investment income

Client fees & charges
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years that Benevolent Society  
has been at the heart of change.

funding received.

people engaged with us through  
our website and social media.

people reached through our  
services, community programs  
and events in 2013.
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2013 marked a significant milestone for The Benevolent 
Society in reaching an incredible 200 years of being at the 
heart of change. Founded in 1813, we are the first and longest 
running not-for-profit any kind in Australia and the pioneer of 
volunteering and philanthropy in this country. Our 200th year 
offered us a unique opportunity to raise awareness of our 
work, celebrate our achievements and spark conversations 
about the changes we need for a better Australia. 

Over the past year we have shared the highlights of our 
contribution to Australia’s history and celebrated the stories of 
the people, families and communities who we have helped on 
the journey. Through our Next 200 Dialogues, we are setting 
the vision for the future and opening up debate about the 
issues that matter in a just society.

Celebrating  
with purpose

Celebrating with purpose 3
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200 years  
of stories
It’s impossible to get to 200 years old 
without having quite a story to tell and 
it’s inevitable that our story would be 
intertwined with those of Australia and 
Australians. 

At a special event hosted by the State 
Library of NSW, we showcased some of 
our rarely seen archives to professional 
historians, long time supporters and 
family members who have a connection 
to our organisation through the 
Benevolent Asylum. Public talks to 
community history groups and regular 
features in family history publications 
have also continued to reveal new 
aspects of our past and grow our 
supporter base. 

We launched a dynamic interactive 
timeline on our website, which places 
our own history in the context of the 
broader history of our nation’s. We also 
shared many of our historical photos 
on Historypin, giving a world-wide 
audience an insight into our past. 

Big Benevolent  
Birthday
On 8 May, we hosted our Big Benevolent  
Birthday party in Martin Place Sydney. 
NSW Minister for Family & Community 
Services, Pru Goward, and MPs 
from all sides of politics attended an 
official birthday cake cutting with an 
acknowledgment of country by Michael 
West from the Metropolitan Local 
Aboriginal Land Council. Our Taste 
Food Tour guides and My Kitchen Rules 
celebrity chefs Sammy and Bella joined 
the fun cooking up a storm to whet the 
appetites of passers-by.

Elvis themed entertainment also 
featured, a link to the little-known 
fact that ‘The King’ is a Life Governor 
having donated his gold Cadillac for a 
fundraising tour in 1968.

Our Team 200 champions, a network 
of staff from across all our programs, 
also played a pivotal role in organising 
special events within their own local 
centres, connecting with clients and 
community partners to share our 
birthday celebrations.

Hopes for the next  
200 years
We launched our ‘Hopes for Change’ 
campaign, inviting all Australians to share 
their hopes for the future via postcards, 
social media or our dedicated microsite. 
More than 800 hopes have been 
shared to date, from people of all ages 
and from all parts of the community. 
The centrepiece of the campaign was 
‘Hundreds and Thousands’, an interactive 
light sculpture in the Vivid Light Festival 
in Sydney where hopes submitted 
through social media triggered changes 
in light patterns, visually bringing 
people’s hopes to life. 

Being selected to exhibit in Vivid was a 
first, as no other charity has been part 
of the festival. With more than 800,000 
people attending the festival, it was 
a significant public engagement and 
brand awareness opportunity and a 
way to showcase how technology and 
creativity can be used for social impact. 
The light tunnel became one of the 
most photographed installations, we 
were profiled in the festival publications 
and included in a live broadcast at 
the Opera House by ABC 702 Radio. 
Special activities were arranged so 
our clients and staff could experience 
the installation, including a visit by a 
group of ‘tech savvy seniors’ from our 
Allambie centre, and 200 children and 
families from our South West Sydney 
community programs. 

In the Vivid Ideas section of the festival, 
staff member Cathy Quinn was a 
speaker at ‘Produce Purpose’, a public 
talk on designing products for social 
impact. This was an opportunity to 
showcase our Taste Food Tours and how 
they connect people across cultures and 
create employment pathways. 

Image from our historical collection.

Staff celebrating at Martin Place.
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Speaking out on  
issues that matter
We held a series of public talks, the 
‘Next 200 Dialogues’, to open up new 
conversations about the issues that 
matter in a just society. The Dialogues 
have been hosted by Natasha Mitchell, 
from ABC Radio National, and broadcast 
on the Life Matters program. Prominent 
writer Hugh Mackay launched the series 
as our first ‘thinker’, with an insightful 
reflection on ‘The Good Life – what 
makes us happy’. Other topics to be 
covered include the impact of violence 
on children, the importance of early 
action to prevent costly social and 
health problems later in life, and what it 
takes to lead change. 

We also hosted our first Regional Next 
200 Dialogue in Campbelltown, which 
took the form of a panel discussion on 
the role of creativity in mental health. 
Deputy Mental Health Commissioner 
Fay Jackson took part in the discussion 
and helped to stimulate debate and 
trigger public conversation about 
mental health issues and our vision for 
the future of service delivery in this 
important area. The audience included 
clients, staff, local service providers and 
community partners, potential local 
business supporters and new donors. 

Racing 200km  
for change
In May we launched a new annual 
fundraising event with 20 teams 
of riders from some of the largest 
companies in Australia cycling 200 
kilometres in a competitive time trial. 
The riders collectively raised more 
than $150,000 to help us give children 
a brighter future. The event was 
extremely well received, with many of 
the teams already planning their 2014 
participation.

‘Hundreds and Thousands’ at the Vivid Light 
Festival, Sydney.

A Race for Change participant

Visit www.benevolent.org.au to find out more about our  
200 Years celebration and our ongoing campaign activities.
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Australia grows more prosperous with 
each passing year and can now be 
counted amongst the world’s most 
wealthy nations. Yet the issues The 
Benevolent Society grappled with in 
the early years of the penal colony 200 
years ago are still with us.

As my time as Chairman of The 
Benevolent Society’s Board draws to a 
close after five years, I pause and reflect 
on the services we provide to help 
people change their lives and escape the 
patterns of the past, which often span 
many generations. 

While our services are essential, we 
can’t just accept difficult social issues 
like domestic violence, drug abuse and 
the growing number of children in out 
of home care as the status quo. It’s vital 
that we channel our efforts into ending 
suffering, rather than just ameliorating it. 

The key is not to wait until problems 
have escalated to a point where they 
are complex and entrenched. Instead 
we must act early and provide lasting 
solutions that lead to real change.

My greatest hope is that over the next 
200 years The Benevolent Society will 
play quite a different role to what it 
does today, having been successful in 
tackling the social problems of our time. 

Perhaps instead we will be able to focus 
on lifting the wellbeing of the general 
population, which to an extent, we do 
already with the services we provide to 
people with physical disabilities, older 
people and people living with a mental 
illness.

But to get there, we must truly challenge 
ourselves and be willing to change.

As Australia’s first social welfare 
organisation, and indeed the first home 
grown Australian institution of any 
kind, The Benevolent Society’s voice 
deserves to be heard. It’s time for us to 
step up and initiate the agenda needed 
to make Australia a better place of all 
Australians.

One thing that exacerbates the 
social isolation felt by so many in our 
community is the increasing lack of 
contact once provided at traditional 
gathering places such as schools, clubs 
and places of worship. The virtual world 
that has infiltrated our lives, however, 
holds the potential to re-establish 
a sense of community by creating 
new ways of connecting people and 
delivering social services with greater 
efficiency. The Benevolent Society is 
just beginning that journey by investing 
in new technologies with the goal of 
becoming a leader in online service 
delivery and employing technological 
advances to forge far-reaching 
community changes that today we 
cannot even imagine. 

When I step down as Chairman, I feel 
confident that The Benevolent Society’s 
strong and passionate workforce and 
outstanding management team is well 
up to the task of transforming the way 
Australia creates and serves diverse 
communities in the future.

It has been a privilege for me to work 
with my colleagues on the Board of 

Directors of The Benevolent Society; 
I have learned much from their 
commitment and open and honest 
dialogue as we have dealt with a wide 
range of challenges over the past few 
years and I know that each of them 
shares my pride in how much has been 
accomplished. I am excited about what 
the future holds. 

Thank you.

Sam Weiss 
Chairman  

Chairman’s  
message
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It’s been a momentous year for The 
Benevolent Society as we celebrate 
our 200th anniversary. For two 
hundred years we have been at the 
heart of change and, as Australia’s 
first and longest-running not-for-profit 
organisation, The Benevolent Society 
has had an important role in shaping 
Australia as we know it. 

This year has been a significant 
opportunity for reflection about the 
past and about our hopes for the future 
of Australia. 

Our story began in 1813, when the new 
colony was a harsh place, with growing 
poverty and suffering.

With five of his mates, a 27 year old 
called Edward Smith Hall began a 
grassroots movement of social change. 
They called on the people of the colony 
to donate food and blankets, which 
were handed out from the homes 
of committee members to destitute 
children, unmarried mothers, and 
elderly ex-convicts. 

Hall and his committee got into strife 
with the “establishment” for challenging 
the cultural norms of the day. These 
destitute people were considered 
unworthy of help at that time – they 
were considered lazy or immoral. 

However, five years later, Governor 
Lachlan Macquarie became our first 
patron, providing much needed official 
support and respectability for the cause, 
and the opportunity to reach more 
people in need. 

The leadership of this small group 
was a game-changer for the emerging 
Australian community. The founders 
of The Benevolent Society pioneered 
philanthropy and volunteering in this 
country. They provided practical help 
and ran refuges and hospitals, with a 
focus on those most vulnerable, children 
and families and the elderly poor.

Throughout most of that first century 
The Benevolent Society was in fact the 
welfare system here, until governments 
and other non-profits came along to 
provide some of these essential health 
and social services.

Our founders had big ideas, a vision for 
change, they had the courage to take 
risks, and collaborating with others in 
business and government and churches, 
they advocated for social change, such 
as the old age pension, child protection 
laws, free legal aid and maternity 
care. These are things which we today 
take for granted and consider to be 
foundations of civil society.

Fast forward to 2013, and this tradition 
of speaking out about what needs to 
change continues today, as we cast 
our gaze to the Next 200 years and our 
hopes for this country. We have been 
inspired by the stories of the courage 
and determination of our founders who 
acted boldly for positive change in the 
lives of people and society as a whole.

This year we have been mobilising 
our resources to campaign for greater 
investment in prevention and early 
action to change the lives of kids 
from disadvantaged families. At The 

Benevolent Society we believe in 
acting early, really early, to give kids 
and their families a fresh start, and 
ensure they get the help they need to 
prevent problems later in life. Based on 
research, this is the heart of the change 
The Benevolent Society is influencing 
today, in partnership with our partner 
organisations and collaborators. 

Whilst it has been a year of celebration, 
it has also been a time of redefining our 
strategy and transforming how we work 
together to achieve our ambitious goals. 
The strategy includes growing our reach 
and influence nationally and investing 
in new technologies to enhance 
our services to clients. We are also 
continuing to build our education and 
research capacity, to provide leadership 
in the implementation of research into 
practice, and build knowledge and 
capability within our sector and beyond. 

None of our work would be possible 
without the dedication of staff, 
volunteers, donors, funders and the 
valuable contribution of our Board. I 
am particularly grateful to Sam Weiss, 
our outgoing Chairman, for his wisdom, 
inspiring belief in the organisation 
and the strong sense of stewardship 
he has brought to the governance of 
The Benevolent Society. He leaves The 
Benevolent Society in a robust position, 
embracing the next 200 years with 
confidence and optimism.

Anne Hollonds 
Chief Executive Officer
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Unleashing Australia’s  
best kept secret
2013 marks not only Benevolent 
Society’s 200th year of being at the 
heart of change in Australia, but is also 
our first year under a new and focussed 
brand identity. We are confident our 
brand identity will engage the public in 
a dynamic way and support our work 
as a catalyst for positive personal and 
societal change.

For an organisation with such a long 
standing history, we are not as well 
known as we believe we should be 
and we want to change that. With the 
launch of our 200 Years Celebrations 
and a dedicated brand awareness raising 
campaign, we embarked on a journey 
to create a prominent public profile that 
matches the strength of our history. 

Our 200 Years Celebration took us on 
a journey through our past, while our 
brand awareness campaign focussed on 
telling the story of Benevolent Society 
though the stories of the clients we 
help. We were seen in a variety of press, 
outdoor, radio and online advertising 
channels as well as PR and editorial 
features in major media outlets. 

In our post campaign analysis, we found 
that:
• 28% of our target market clearly 

recalled the campaign, equivalent to 
412,530 people

• our brand awareness increased from 
46% in April 2012 to 67% in June 2013

• our web traffic increased by 48% 
compared to the same period in the 
previous year

• our Facebook community increased 
by 700% in the duration of the 
campaign 

The success of our campaigns means 
that our efforts to help more people in 
more places will be amplified – through 
our increased ability to generate public 
and private funding and support and by 
having a stronger voice to speak out on 
those issues that matter the most.

A thriving organisation

The heart of changebenevolent.org.au

From life on 
the streets to 
doting mum

Their story is our story. 
The moment Kim discovered she was pregnant with Poppy, she 
vowed to beat her drug addiction and leave the streets behind. 

Benevolent Society believes in acting early. Really early. 
That’s why we started helping Kim long before Poppy was born.

Support people � ghting for a fresh start. 

When Kim found out that she was 
pregnant, she vowed to turn her 
life around so that her daughter 
Poppy would not face the same 
difficulties that she did growing up. 
Benevolent Society knew that the 
best outcome for Poppy would be 
for her to stay with her mum, so we 
helped Kim to secure housing and 
access to counselling, parenting 
support and playgroups so that  
she could give Poppy the best  
start in life. 

You can read more about Kim & 
Poppy’s story on our website.

Benevolent Society’s new brand wins ‘Brand New Award’

Our branding agency, Designworks 
was awarded a four star rating in the 
‘Comprehensive Identity Program’ 
of the annual awards for work in 
revitalising Benevolent Society’s brand 
identity. 

With over 700 international entries, 
Designworks was one of 75 to win the 
coveted award for Benevolent Society’s 
new comprehensive identity, one of 
only a few Australian agencies to receive 
an accolade in the competition.

OUR 2013 HigHligHtS:
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Walking together  
towards reconciliation
Our Reconciliation Action Plan 2012-
2015, Walking Together is a key part 
of our vision for social change. 2012-
2013 marked the first 12 months in 
which our plan has been in effect, and 
it has been well received within the 
organisation and externally. An internal 
Cultural Respect Committee has been 
formed to monitor the progress of the 
implementation of Walking Together 
and in our first Cultural Competency 
Survey, it was found that amongst staff:
• 87% agreed that Benevolent Society is 

committed to reconciliation
• 77% agreed that they felt culturally 

safe and respected in their current 
role

• 76% agreed that Benevolent Society 
supports cultural awareness and 
connections between staff.

Our Cultural Protocols have been 
finalised and we are in the process of 
developing an annual RAP Partnership 
survey, which will involve 31 partners 
and organisations. 

We’ve also placed five Aboriginal social 
work students into our programs 
in trainee placements and initiated 
additional secondment opportunities 
for our staff.

Powering up our  
technology capacity
We invested heavily in a major 
upgrade of our information technology 
capabilities, which touched more than  
800 of our staff members. This will help 
us deliver services that are flexible, 
mobile, responsive and client focussed. 
As a result of this injection of IT muscle:
• our network can now support three 

times the number of users, which 
positions us for continued growth at 
more locations across the country

• reliability of our network is vastly 
improved, and all software has been 
upgraded

• staff are better supported through 
an IT Helpdesk with extended hours: 
from 7am–7pm

• 4,500 devices were ‘plugged in’ at  
55 sites, including new PCs, printers 
and phones 

• we’re all on the same phone network 
(Telstra) and calls between all 
Benevolent Society desk phones and 
mobile phones are included in the 
cost of our plan, creating significant 
savings

• the number of IT vendors was 
reduced from 15 to just three, a 
far more effective approach to 
improve service reliability, increase 
our efficiencies and keep costs 
manageable. 

 

taking evidence-informed 
practice to the next level
We’re creating a revolution in the way 
we record information about our clients. 
It’s a three year project, with our first 
pilot site testing the new system early 
next year, and only made technically 
possible by the major upgrade in our 
IT systems (see left). In the meantime, 
a huge amount of work has been 
going on to consolidate 25 separate 
client systems into a single system to 
streamline and simplify data collection, 
reporting and monitoring of outcomes 
for our clients.

Much more than a computer system, it 
will provide us with a feedback loop that 
enables us to track the effectiveness of 
our work with clients and whether we’re 
achieving the outcomes we’ve identified 
for them. It also will bring consistency 
to our practice, and create common 
assessment tools across all our service 
types, which will be grounded in the 
evidence of what works. 

That means we’ll be able to develop 
high quality and innovative integrated 
services. Another major benefit for 
clients is that they will have to tell us 
their story once, and we’ll be much 
better able to connect them to the full 
range of services we offer.

Manager Fiona Carr with social work student 
Amber Davies.

Walking Together can be downloaded from 
www.benevolent.org.au
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Cairns Early Years Centre  
Playgroup at lions Park Earlville
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At the heart of change for  
children, youth & families 

OUR 2013 HigHligHtS:

We help parents to be the best mums and dads they can be, 
and to build strong family relationships which support the 
physical, social and cognitive development of their children 
and young people.

There is strong evidence that investment in prevention 
and early intervention programs, such as integrated 
family support, parenting education, health services, early 
childhood education and development, and mental health 
services, can significantly improve the wellbeing of children 
and young people throughout their lives. We work closely 
with partner organisations to provide accessible and 
culturally sensitive programs, such as playgroups, early 
learning support, counselling, home visiting, and maternal 
and paediatric health care. We also provide intensive 
support to kids and families where there is risk of violence  
or abuse.

children under 18 received direct 
services from us or were supported  
through our community programs.

number of postcodes where  
we work across Australia.

families received direct services  
from us or were supported through  
our community programs.
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Public support  
for early action
The Benevolent Society believes that 
investing in early action makes common 
sense and economic sense. ‘Early action’ 
means intervening as early as possible to 
tackle problems for children and young 
people before they become difficult and 
costly to fix. 

As part of the development of a new 
advocacy campaign for early action, 
we commissioned Woolcott Research 
to conduct a national survey to gauge 
public interest in this area. The results 
showed nine out of ten people believe 
it’s important to invest more in acting 
early to support families with young 
children to prevent problems and save 
the community money in the long term. 
56% of respondents indicated that this 
issue would influence their vote for a 
particular party.

See page 23 for more information about 
our Early Action Campaign.

An innovative approach to 
raising private funds
In June 2013, in partnership with 
Westpac and Commonwealth Bank, we 
launched a $10 million Social Benefit 
Bond to fund Resilient Families, a new 
intensive support service for up to 400 
families over five years. 

Social Benefit Bonds are an innovative 
financial instrument for private investors 
which provide returns based on the 
reduction of government spending 
on social issues. In our case, when 
we can show our Resilient Families 
service successfully keeps children 
safe and reduces the number entering 
foster care, our investors will receive a 
financial return.

Resilient Families is due to start 
receiving family referrals in October 
2013.

“this type of financing 
encourages discipline in the 
reporting of social outcomes, 
which means greater 
transparency for taxpayers, 
and also creates an asset 
class which does not require 
a choice between being a 
philanthropist or an investor.”
Will Hopkins 
Executive, Business Development

QCWA and Benevolent  
team up to open family hub
The Benevolent Society and the 
Queensland Country Women’s 
Association (QCWA) are set to open  
a new one-stop-shop child and family 
hub in Calliope.

Funding support from local businesses 
and family foundations will transform 
the QCWA’s old community hall into a 
modern, child-friendly centre where 
parents can go for everything from 
baby health checks, to playgroups, 
family support and parenting advice. 
With many young families moving into 
the area, it will also be a space where 
parents can receive support and advice 
and make connections in their new 
community.

Expansion into South 
Australia
We now operate from South Australia, 
partnering with Goodstart to expand 
our Partnerships in Early Childhood 
(PIEC) program into the state. PIEC 
puts child care centres at the heart of 
the community, building on existing 
strengths and resources by placing a 
Child and Family PIEC worker within 
the children’s service to work with staff 
and parents to promote strong, healthy 
relationships between children, child 
care staff, families and communities. 
The PIEC program has been peer 
reviewed and validated by the Australian 
Institute of Family Studies as evidencing 
promising practice.

 

Participant at our Young Spirit Mentoring 
program. 
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“i thought that i was a good parent, and i thought that i 
was identifying my child’s needs and giving her what she 
wanted, but having been doing the dads’ classes here,  
i feel that i am tenfold the father on what i was before i 
came. So i think if we hadn’t have come here, we (my wife 
and i) most likely wouldn’t be together anymore.”

Rob from our Child and Family program in Rosebery 

New bus gets things moving 
at Early Years Centres
We know that the early years matter 
the most and that’s why we place a lot 
of emphasis on getting children to kindy 
where they can develop the social skills 
they need before they start school. In 
March 2013, we were granted funding 
for a free bus service at our Acacia 
Ridge Early Years Centre, where there 
are many children from Aboriginal and 
other culturally diverse communities. 
Local children who otherwise might not 
have been able to get to the centre for 
preschool because of lack of transport, 
are now able to go. 

We also secured funding for a Family 
Wellbeing Service to be integrated into 
our Browns Plains centre and a Parent 
Connect service for Cairns and North 
Gold Coast centres.

New resilience  
assessment tool
When our child and family practitioners 
begin working with a vulnerable family, 
they need to understand their situation.  
That’s where the Resilience Assessment 
Tool comes in. Our case workers use 
the tool to gain a comprehensive 
understanding of the family’s 
circumstances and needs, then they 
develop a plan for change with the 
family.

Over the past 12 months our child 
and family staff have been involved in 
evaluating our family assessment tool. 
That data has been captured by our 
Social Policy & Research team and used 
to re-develop the tool, in a process 
led by our Director of Professional 
Practice, Greg Antcliff. The new 
Resilience Assessment Tool is currently 
being piloted by Central West Brighter 
Futures, Rosebery Child & Family 
and New England Brighter Futures. 
Feedback has been very positive it will 
be rolled out more broadly across the 
organisation in a staged process.

Shaping Brains receives 
additional funding support
Commonwealth Bank Enterprise 
Services division has committed 
funding and volunteer help in support 
of the expansion of the Shaping Brains 
program based in Queensland. Focusing 
on the Mind UP component of the 
program this support enables us to train 
more practitioners within our own Early 
Years Centres and education based 
programs to incorporate Mind Up into 
their practice. As the program expands 
Commonwealth Bank Enterprise 
Services employees will be engaged in 
skilled volunteering focused on business 
planning and technology skills.

Acacia Ridge Early Years Centre Bus. 
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Enjoying a social day out  
and staying connected  
to community



hours of respite provided to carers. largest provider of community aged 
care packages in Sydney and the 6th 
largest in NSW. 

hours of direct support to more  
than 1,400 older clients and people  
with a disability.

 

meals delivered by our Northern 
Beaches Food Service. 
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We support older people to make choices that will enable 
them to live at home confidently and independently and 
to improve their wellbeing. We also support carers of older 
people and people with disabilities to look after their own 
needs as well as those of the person they are caring for.

Our services are tailored to the needs and preferences of 
each individual, and are adapted as their circumstances 
change. The services can include help with having a shower, 
housework, transport, respite care as well as arranging social 
activities so that relationships with family and friends and 
links to the community are maintained. We also offer services 
through which we organise support for older people and 
people with a disability who have multiple health problems 
and complex needs.

OUR 2013 HigHligHtS:

At the heart of change for older people, 
carers and people with disabilities
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Your life, your wellbeing
We believe evaluating our services is the 
key to provide great quality services for 
clients. We also know that Australian 
evidence of the impact of community 
care services on older people’s social 
and emotional wellbeing is limited. To 
help address this gap, we completed 
an evaluation of our community aged 
care services. This has helped us get an 
insight into the impact of our services, 
and how we might have to adjust them 
to better meet the needs of older clients 
and clients with a disability.

We found:
• levels of isolation were generally 

high and tended to be highest among 
men; those classified as financially 
disadvantaged; and, those living with 
family and others. The finding for the 
third group suggests that living with 
others is not necessarily protection 
against feelings of loneliness

• clients reported high levels of 
psychological distress

• clients who reported poor health and 
higher levels of psychological distress 
tended to be more isolated and have 
lower levels of wellbeing.

Importantly, we’re having a positive 
impact on the wellbeing our older 
clients. 80% agreed that they felt more 
in charge of their life because of the 
service they received from us. And  
81% agreed that they felt able to  
‘remain living where I want to’ because 
of the service they received from us.

The research has reinforced our belief 
that it is never too late to ‘act early’. 
By helping to prevent problems from 
occurring, dealing with emerging 
problems before they become 
entrenched and more difficult to 
reverse, and reducing the impact 
of unavoidable problems, we can 
maximise older people’s autonomy and 
wellbeing. Our findings emphasised 
the experiences of the older people we 
surveyed — particularly the importance 
of linking older people with mental 
health services — and recognising that 
addressing social isolation should be an 
integral component of community aged 
care services and health promotion 
programs.

translating knowledge  
into better practice
This year, we published two new briefing 
papers designed to bring the latest 
research and innovative practices to 
the community aged care sector to help 
improve services and the wellbeing of 
older people. 

Working with older Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people

This paper is designed for mainstream 
community aged care organisations 
and practitioners to help them work 
in a respectful and culturally sensitive 
way towards Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander people. Key practice 
implications include the importance of 
engaging and developing partnerships 
with local Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander communities; the need for 
cultural competence to be reflected 
in leadership and in the knowledge, 
values, skills and attributes of all staff 
within an organisation; and the value of 
organisational commitment and action 
to employ Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander staff.
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“And she took me out, didn’t she? She took me out for my 
first time in eight years and do you know what, it was so 
funny. She came and i was in my pyjamas as usual. But 
she says to me, now look, go and get dressed and put your 
make up on. i’m not leaving here until you’ve got a chance 
to…and you know, she took me to the markets…We had a 
ball, an absolute ball.”

Grace, Community Care client

Supporting older people experiencing 
mental distress or living with mental 
illness

Depression and anxiety are not an 
ordinary part of ageing, they are serious 
illnesses and a major risk for older 
people. In fact, older people have a 
higher risk of suicide than the general 
population. People often miss or 
misunderstand mental illness in older 
people because symptoms may be 
similar to other illnesses like dementia, 
they may be mistaken for normal 
reactions to grief or major life changes, 
or people may be more focussed on a 
physical illnesses. This paper focuses  
on how those in the community aged 
care sector (including care workers,  
case managers, team leaders, and 
managers) can support people who 
show signs of mental illness.

 

Other highlights:
• About 60 frail older people from the 

St George region will benefit from 
social activities and outings, with 
three local clubs — the Illawarra 
Catholic Club, Earlwood Bardwell 
Park RSL and Ramsgate RSL – helping 
Benevolent Society put a new bus 
on the road. The bus will transport 
people in their eighties and nineties 
to our Greenwood Cottage service 
each week, giving older people with 
limited mobility who live at home an 
opportunity to meet people and stay 
active and engaged in community life.

• We’re set to expand our provision of 
services to older people and people 
with disabilities into regional NSW for 
the first time. The new funding we’ve 
received for New England – where 
we already deliver child and family 
services – will allow us to support 
around 30 frail older people. This is 
still a significant milestone for us, as it 
will be the first time our community 
ageing services have been delivered 
outside metropolitan Sydney.
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Participant at our 
Young Spirit Mentoring  
program in Campbelltown
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OUR 2013 HigHligHtS:

At the heart of change in building  
strong communities

We work in partnership with communities, to draw on their 
strengths, link people with informal networks of support and 
create opportunities for all to thrive.

We believe the best way to achieve sustainable change in 
community is to work collectively to meet local needs and build 
local capacity for change. Our approach focuses on improving 
people’s personal and community networks, the result being 
a higher level of civic, social and economic participation by 
residents, a decrease in disadvantage, and ultimately a 
stronger community.

people learned about other  
cultures through our Taste  
social enterprise.

partner organisations in delivery, 
referral and enterprise.

people reached through our 
community programs.

people engaged through  
our events.
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Collective impact:  
the theory in practice
Our ability to be open, to explore 
possibilities and to hear different 
views is what supports us to be an 
effective facilitating partner in the 
delivery of a range of collective impact 
initiatives, including government funded 
Communities for Children and Early 
Years Centres. We believe collaboration 
across difference is the primary work of 
leadership. The Benevolent Society, in 
partnership with our Social Leadership 
Australia colleagues, developed and 
launched a Collective Impact paper, 
drawing on our combined collaborative 
and partnership experiences.

Connect 4 Kids
The Benevolent Society was funded by  
the Aussie Farmers Foundation to  
develop a collaboration model specifically 
for rural NSW. Building on our Connect 4 
Kids project, we developed the Life Skills 
and Mentoring Program in collaboration 
with Country Women’s Association 
(CWA) members in communities 
throughout the New England and  
Central West regions of NSW. 

The result is that people who would not 
normally connect are working together. 
The benefits for the community have 
been an engagement in and sharing of 
innovative approaches to local issues 
such as participation in employment. 
The result is an evidenced-based model 
and resource kit, with evaluation tools 
to support collaborative projects. 
The kit includes tools on how to 
build the ‘readiness’ of local workers, 
organisations and communities to 
embrace and drive change. 

Better Futures,  
local Solutions
Fighting joblessness and poverty are  
the priority for Local Advisory Groups 
and Community Action Leaders, and the 
supporting Local Solutions  
Fund, funded by the Australian 
Government Department of Human 
Services under the Better Futures,  
Local Solutions initiative.

The Benevolent Society is actively 
involved in two of the ten regions across 
Australia which have put innovative 
ideas to improve local employment 
outcomes into action through this 
initiative. As the host organisation in 
Wyong, supporting the Community 
Action Leader and Chair of the Local 
Advisory Group in Bankstown, we 
are part of the process that provides 
a platform for people with local 
knowledge to have a role in making 
social services work better for people 
in need. We know that there is no ‘one 
size fits all’ solution to joblessness and 
poverty – that is why communities must 
work together to develop projects to 
help stop people from falling through 
the cracks.

headspace
headspace Liverpool, run by a 
consortium led by The Benevolent 
Society, offers young people aged 12-25 
professional advice, clinical treatments 
and specialist referrals to help them 
manage their mental illness. 

headspace Liverpool will help to 
demystify and de-stigmatise mental 
illness – making it easier for local young 
people to understand mental distress 
and get the help they need to manage 
their mental wellbeing before they 
reach crisis point. 

It also will be a welcoming,  
youth-friendly space with computer 
kiosks, free wifi and phone chargers, 
where young people can drop 
in for information and advice on 
everything from housing, education 
and employment through to drug and 
alcohol support, physical health advice 
and, of course, mental health support.

See Me Hear Me
Macarthur residents are using art to 
challenge attitudes to mental illness as 
part of The Benevolent Society’s fifth 
annual ‘See Me, Hear Me’ exhibition, 
which opened at the Campbelltown  
Arts Centre in May 2013.

More than thirty local artists living 
with mental illness submitted works, 
showcasing their creativity in painting, 
drawing, poetry and video. For many 
participants, previous exhibitions have 
given them the confidence to reconnect 
with others in the community, helping 
them to break down the sense of 
isolation that is felt by many people 
living with mental illness, build new 
relationships and talk more openly with 
others about their mental illness.



taste Social  
Enterprise
Our Taste Food Tours are a different 
approach to building community 
cohesion because they break down 
stereotypes, create local jobs and 
generate income we can put back into 
the community. Our social enterprise 
was recognised for its unique blend of 
cultural and community development 
when we won the Building Inclusive 
Communities Awards, non-government 
category in September 2012.

The awards are a joint initiative of 
the Ethnic Communities Council of 
New South Wales and Macquarie 
University, and the winners were 
announced by NSW Premier Barry 
O’Farrell at Parliament House. 

Our first-of-its-kind mobile kitchen 
won the Service category of the 
Australian International Design 
Awards® in May 2013. Design Award 
Judge, Alex Cheek said “the way 
the Taste Mobile Kitchen integrates 
many different aspects of how to 
make a great experience for school 
students and the community, as 
well as building a [social enterprise] 

business model around it, the fact 
that the Taste Mobile Kitchen is really 
connected to the environment it was 
designed for, makes it a great service 
and a great service design”.

Thanks to the mobile kitchen, we’re 
running ‘produce-to-plate’ cooking 
classes in schools in south-west 
Sydney. Students and their families 
learn how to prepare simple, healthy 
and affordable meals using fresh 
produce from the school’s veggie 
patch and learn about cuisine from 
other cultures. It’s just another 
way we’re working to strengthen 
community connections, bridge 
cultural divides, break down 
negative stereotypes and develop 
local employment and training 
opportunities. 

Saver Plus
Our Saver Plus program received 
an ‘Outstanding’ MoneySmart 
Week Award in the ‘community’ 
category. The award recognised the 
program’s outstanding achievements 
in improving financial literacy and 
capability in Australia.

More than 364 people from the 
Bankstown, Canterbury, Auburn, 
Ashfield, Burwood and Strathfield 
areas of Sydney have benefited from 
Saver Plus to save $197,843 and have 
used their matched savings to pay for 
laptops, school uniforms and sport 
fees. Now that really is… Money 
Smart!

“i honestly feel like i’ve done a 180 degree turn beginning 
with taste Food tours a couple years ago. it changed my 
life at the time, it brought me out of my shell. You get used 
to staying at home and being with the bubs…i was out 
meeting new people and businesses and the other guides 
are all amazing too - it was like jumping back into life and 
civilisation.”

Debbie, Taste Food Tour Guide

2013 highlights: At the heart of change in building strong communities 21
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Geoff Aigner and Liz Skelton at the launch of 
The Australian Leadership Paradox.

OUR 2013 HigHligHtS:

At the heart of change  
in leadership development

leading Change,  
Changing leaders
Our belief in the value of leadership 
and its role in creating change is central 
to the new brand identity created for 
Social Leadership Australia in 2013. 
This is expressed in the tagline ‘Change 
Leaders’. The new brandmark, with its 
clever use of quotation marks, reflects 
the principle that change begins with 
open dialogue. Leadership is not about 
ready-made answers. It starts with a 
question—a conversation. 

The new brand also heralds an emerging 
‘voice’ for Social Leadership Australia as 
a thought leader, creating and sharing 
new thinking about leadership, and 
engaging new audiences in discussion on 
diverse public platforms. 

Redefining leadership  
in Australia
As well as continuing its series of 
‘hot topic’ breakfast discussions and 
workshops on core social leadership 
ideas this year, Social Leadership 
Australia has expanded its presence in 
traditional and social media, presented 
at a number of major conferences 
and events and gone to press with its 
second book—The Australian Leadership 
Paradox: What it takes to lead in the 
lucky country (Allen & Unwin) by 
director, Geoff Aigner, and principal 
consultant, Liz Skelton. 

The Australian Leadership Paradox is 
the first book to address the culture 
of Australian leadership, offering an 
original and insightful analysis of some 
of the nation’s problematic thinking 
about leadership, and presenting a new 
way forward to grasp the opportunities 
we have in the 21st century. 

New development in 
leadership offering
Social Leadership Australia presents a 
full suite of leadership development 
opportunities from workshops and 
breakfasts to long programs, as well 
as applied consulting. In 2013, we 
expanded our masterclass offering and 
have also created customised programs 
focussed on areas of need, such as 
housing, homelessness, disability, black/
white relations and issues affecting 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
people and rural communities. 

With a proud 200 year history as a pioneer of change in 
Australia, a commitment to social leadership is at the heart 
and soul of The Benevolent Society. It’s our core belief that the 
world can be changed for the better by individuals willing to 
take responsibility and lead. That belief sparked the creation 
of a dedicated centre for leadership development in 1999. 

US facilitator Julie Diamond, who co-created 
with Liz Skelton the masterclass ‘The art and 
skill of collaboration’.

Visit leadership.benevolent.org.au to find 
out how we’re developing better leaders for 
a better Australia.

leaders reached by our  
Social leadership programs.

clients received customised  
consulting programs.

increase in website visits.
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tHE NExt 200 YEARS:  

Acting early,  
changing lives
Prevention and early action saves money and improves 
wellbeing. By investing in what works we can change the 
lives of kids and their families. It’s more effective and better 
value for money than reacting later. So we all benefit in the 
long run. That’s why Benevolent Society believes in acting 
early. Really early.

Why Early Action? 
Prevention is better than cure. 
It’s common sense, and it makes 
economic sense. Many social problems 
Australia faces today – such as crime, 
unemployment, mental illness, family 
violence and poor health have their roots 
in what happens in early childhood. 
Unfortunately public money is more 
often directed to trying to address these 
problems once they occur, rather than 
trying to prevent them. 

In Australia today:
• Almost 1 in 5 kids are vulnerable on 

one or more developmental domains 
when they start school, which makes 
it harder for them to keep up with 
their peers. 

• for Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander children the rate is double

• less than half of our kids who need 
professional help for a mental health 
issue receive the help they need

• almost 40,000 children are living in 
out of home care because of concerns 
for their safety and wellbeing.

Campaigning for change
To turn these worrying trends 
around we need cooperation across 
government, welfare, education, health 
and business sectors to create a shift 
from crisis reaction to investment in 
early action and prevention.

The evidence is clear that for every 
dollar we invest early, the community 
saves on significant later costs, with 
estimates of up to 10% return on 
investment considered conservative. 
Research shows that disadvantaged 
children who attend preschool, and 
whose parents were given support, 
are more likely by the age of 40 to 
have graduated from high school and 
be employed, have higher average 
earnings, home ownership and lower 
levels of crime, than disadvantaged 
children whose families did not get this 
early help.

 
A failure to invest in prevention and 
early action is like signing a blank 
cheque for much higher future costs 
- for more juvenile and adult prisons, 
more welfare and health costs, and 
lower productivity. 

The Benevolent Society believes that all 
Australian children deserve to get the 
help they and their families need for them 
to thrive. The goal of our Early Action 
campaign is that all children, individuals 
and families are able to learn and thrive, 
contribute to society and become good 
parents, who are ready and able to deal 
with key life transition points.

“Some kids win the lottery at 
birth, far too many don’t…
the highest rate of return in 
early childhood development 
comes from investing as 
early as possible, from 
birth through age five, in 
disadvantaged families.”
James Heckman 
Nobel prize-winning economist 

Visit www.benevolent.org.au to find out  
more about our campaign, and sign up to 
receive updates.

Sources: Australian Early Development Index; ARACY Report Card The wellbeing of young 
Australians 2013; Sawyer et al. 2000; AIFS Child abuse & neglect statistics May 2013
High Scope (2006) The HighScope Perry Preschool Study. HighScope Educational Research 
Foundation. Ypsilanti, Michigan.
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tracking our  
performance
STRATEGIC GOAL 1  
influence social change nationally

1.1 Our research and advocacy influences 
public policy and professional practice
We believe strongly in the power of public 
debate and policy advocacy to drive social 
change. We do this by making submissions, 
engaging in direct dialogue with governments, 
developing policy, conducting research, working 
in alliances with sector partners and promoting 
media debate.
We made 7 submissions to Government calling 
for policy change, achieved a 46% increase 
in meetings with politicians and 100% of our 
submissions were mentioned in inquiry reports.
1.2 We are recognised as an industry leader 
with a strong voice and brand
As Australia’s first charity, we have a strong 
tradition of pioneering social change with 
a strong voice in public debate. Our 200th 
birthday and brand awareness campaign 
objective was to align our brand look and feel 
with our actions and activities. The campaign 
exceeded expectations and delivered an 
increase in prompted brand awareness of 21%.
Our social media and web traffic increased 
significantly – Facebook likes grew to 5,560, 
which is an increase of 1,158%, Twitter followers 
grew to 2,500 which is a 108% increase.
Our overall media coverage increased by  
24%, with Metro/National coverage increasing 
by 40%.
This means we were able to connect with more 
people in more places, engage in new and 
ongoing conversations, so we can continue to 
speak out about the things that matter.
1.3 We are promoting and demonstrating 
leadership that achieves social impact
Real leadership is about empowering others  
to work together and take action to solve  
their own problems. Through our leadership 
centre, Social Leadership Australia (SLA), we  
are equipping a network of leaders with the 
skills, connections and insights to help drive 
systemic change.
Over the past year, we have taught 632 people 
from across the business, government and  
not-for-profit sectors through 21 diverse 
leadership development programs, 51 of those 
on scholarship, because we believe that money  
is no barrier to achieving social impact.

STRATEGIC GOAL 2  
Support children, young people, families and 
older people to become more resilient and 
connected in their communities

2.1 We deliver positive outcomes for children, 
young people, families and older people
Connected communities mean that people feel 
safer, are more engaged in employment and 
education, feel more in charge of their lives and 
have more secure relationships. Another key 
indicator is attendance at school.
Our child and family programs delivered direct 
services to 10,925 families and 14,527 children. 
Services for older people provided support to 
22,962 adults.
2.2 Our centres are community hubs with 
integrated, accessible and culturally safe 
services
Integrated service delivery is essential to a 
person centred approach. Assessing the needs 
of each client, considering their individual 
social and environmental situation is key to 
that process. We provide all clients with access 
to resources, counselling and support that is 
not necessarily provided by our organisation 
but which is necessary to ensure their overall 
wellbeing. 
We ensure that all clients are treated with 
respect and without judgment by staff, with 
particular attention paid to the needs of 
culturally and linguistically diverse clients and 
clients with fears for their safety.
2.3 Local community initiatives improve 
connectedness
We believe the best way to build community 
connectedness, is to co-design solutions and 
build local capacity for resilience and change,  
in partnership with local communities. 
Our work includes government funded 
programs, such as Communities for Children 
and non-government funded initiatives such as 
Growing Communities Together. 
Our community programs have engaged 4,676 
families, 9,151 children, 11,233 adults and 4,483 
partner organisations.
2.4 Continuous improvement is driven by 
evidence of impact
We appointed a Continuous Quality 
Improvement Manager to monitor and ensure 
that staff are using client outcome information 
to improve practice.
2.5 We lead on local partnerships and 
collaboration
We worked with 5,483 organisations as delivery 
partners, referral partners or enterprise 
partners.

STRATEGIC GOAL 3  
Be an agile and robust learning organisation

3.1 We are employer of choice with a skilled  
and diverse workforce
We are committed to fostering a connected 
and healthy workplace community. We have 
upgraded our intranet, making access to 
company policy and news easier to obtain, 
and have launched a new-look weekly 
staff e-newsletter, to keep the lines of 
communication open.
Our annual Voice survey results showed that 
87% of staff agreed that we are committed 
to reconciliation as an organisation, 77% of 
staff agreed that they felt culturally safe and 
respected in their current role and 76% of staff 
agreed that we support cultural awareness and 
connections between staff.
3.2 We use new technologies effectively to 
drive our business
We are piloting a Service Delivery Management 
Solution (SDMS) so we can compare client 
outcomes for like services. As part of that 
process, an internal working group has been 
established and an analysis of our business 
systems and procedures has commenced.
Web Phase I delivered a new and interactive 
website, and the IT service project delivered 
improved computer and telephone systems 
across all 64 locations, with capacity for 
growth. Both of these are major projects were 
completed successfully.
Web Phase II, designed to map and meet  
the needs of all internal and external 
stakeholders, is in the planning phase, ready  
for implementation in September 2013.
3.3 Our systems support innovation and 
proactively manage risk
The alignment of our services and projects has 
commenced, with a new managers professional 
development review process, which is inclusive 
of risk management policies, in the design 
phase, ready for implementation in September 
2013.
3.4 Social enterprises, corporate partnerships 
and donations support our growth
Our funding diversification strategy continues 
to build momentum. Our social businesses 
and corporate partnerships are structured to 
maximise social impact and support the ways in 
which we can continue to drive innovation and 
focus on emerging issues within communities.
Our combined private sector revenue and 
income from social businesses grew by 7%.
Our fundraising direct costs to income ratio 
increased, this is a strategic decision made 
to support our fundraising strategy, which is 
inclusive of the launch of range of new annual 
events, such as Race for Change and Benevolent 
Friends, and the implementation of new direct 
marketing initiatives. 

 
This table summarises our performance against the strategic plan for 2012/13. New strategic goals take effect on 1 July 2013.
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influencing the debate  
on social issues

Submissions to  
government
June 2013
• Shaping a National Financial Literacy 

Strategy for 2014-16

March 2013
• NSW Child Protection: Legislative 

reform, legislative proposals
• Employment Services – building on 

success issues paper

January 2013 
• Queensland Child Protection 

Commission of Inquiry

November 2012
• NSW Family Support Program future 

directions discussion paper
• Submission to the National LGBTI 

Ageing and Aged Care Strategy

August 2012
• Submission to the Senate Committee 

Inquiry into the Adequacy of Newstart 
and other allowances

Publications
September 2012 
• Research to Practice Briefing 7: 

Supporting older people experiencing 
mental distress or illness

May 2013 
• Research to Practice Briefing 8: 

Working with older Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people

Major Presentations 
international
• Inaugural meeting of the Advisory 

Council of the UK Early Intervention 
Foundation

• International Conference on Racisms 
in the New World: Realities of Culture, 
Colour and Identity

• Queen Elizabeth Centre (QEC) 7th 
International Conference

• 20th IAGG World Congress of 
Gerontology and Geriatrics

• 2013 Working Communities 
International Congress

Keynote Speaker
• Living Longer Living Better Aged Care 

Conference
• Front Line Worker Conference in 

Toronto, Canada
• Jobs Australia National Conference 

2012
• Building Partnerships Between 

Government and Not-for-Profits 

Co-hosted/Chaired
• Family Joblessness Seminar
• Communities for Children Forum
• 11th Annual Gold Coast Infant Mental 

Health Conference

Significant Board and 
Committee representation 
• Aged & Community Services 

Association NSW/ACT Board
• Australasian Evaluation Society (AES) 

Board
• Australia Social Policy Association 

(ASPA) Board
• Australian Charity Law Association 

Board
• Community Council of Australia Board
• Council of Social Service of NSW 

(NCOSS) Board
• Early Intervention Council 
• Family Relationship Services Australia 

(FRSA) Board
• Goodstart Early Learning and Care 

Reference Committee
• NSW Committee of Adoption and 

Permanent Care 

Media mentions (24% increase).

Facebook fans (1,158% increase).

twitter followers (108% increase).
Visit www.benevolent.org.au to download 
copies of our submissions and publications.
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thanking our  
funders, partners  
and supporters

Australian Government 
Department of Families, Housing, Community Services and Indigenous Affairs (FaHCSIA) 
Department of Health and Ageing (DoHA) 
Department of Human Services (DHS) 

NSW Government 
Family and Community Services, Ageing Disability & Home Care (NSW FaCS-ADHC)
Family and Community Services, Community Services (NSW FaCS-CS)
Ministry of Health (NSW Health)

Northern Sydney Local Health District (NSLHD) 
South Eastern Sydney Local Health District (SESLHD) 
South Western Sydney Local Health District (SWSLHD) 
Sydney Local Health District (SLHD) 

QLD Government 
Department of Communities, Child Safety and Disability Services (QLD DoC)
Department of Education, Training and Employment (QLD DETE) 

We are grateful to the diverse range of 
partners who generously give us 
financial support and funding so that we 
can continue to help people to change 
their lives. Our work would be 
impossible without them.

We acknowledge the support of State 
and Commonwealth Government 
departments and agencies in delivering 
our programs and services.

We are grateful for pro bono legal 
advice from King & Wood Mallesons, 
Baker & McKenzie, Gilbert & Tobin, 
Henry Davis York and Minter Ellison.

Government Funding 2013 Federal Government                  35%
Federal DoHA             19%

Federal DHS              1%
Federal Other              1%

Federal FaHCSIA             14%

NSW State Government             52%
NSW FaCS-CS              34%
NSW FaCS-ADHC             9%
NSW Health             9%

QLD State Government             13%
QLD DETE              9%
QLD DoC              4%

Federal NSW QLD

Government Funding 2013 Federal Government                  35%
Federal DoHA             19%

Federal DHS              1%
Federal Other              1%

Federal FaHCSIA             14%

NSW State Government             52%
NSW FaCS-CS              34%
NSW FaCS-ADHC             9%
NSW Health             9%

QLD State Government             13%
QLD DETE              9%
QLD DoC              4%

Federal NSW QLD

We thank the private and community 
fundraisers who gave their time to raise 
money for us throughout the year:
• the Scarba Volunteers Family Fund 

and Friends of Scarba Group
• the guests of the Friends of Scarba’s 

Piazzolla & Prosecco evening and 
Biennale of Sydney cocktail event

• Breville Group Ltd for their support  
of the Taste Food Kitchen

• Sage Hair and Beauty Lounge and 
their clients

• participants and supporters of our 
Race for Change event

• our Gold Coast Marathon supporters 
and runners

• our workplace giving partners and 
corporate volunteers

• our Toy and Gift Appeal contributors
• Taste Food Tour participants

A special mention also goes to 
supporters of our 200 Years Celebration 
and Brand Awareness Campaigns:
• Australian Financial Review
• JC Decaux
• APN 
• Telstra
• State Library of NSW
• City of Sydney 
• Woollahra Council
• ANZ (top fundraiser for Race for 

Change)
• Benedictus Media
• Designworks 
• Reactive 
• JA Wales
• Minter Ellison
• ABC Radio National
Private donors, corporate supporters  
and philanthropic foundations who gave 
$1000 or more are acknowledged by 
name. We would also like to recognise 
and thank our anonymous donors and 
those who gave goods and professional 
advice.

Visit www.benevolent.org.au to find out how 
you can support The Benevolent Society

http://www.benevolent.org.au
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A
AGB Events
Robert Albert AO RFD RD & 
Elizabeth Albert
AMP Foundation Ltd
ANZ Bank Community Relations
Arrow Energy Pty Ltd
Aspen Nutritionals
Aurizon Community Giving Fund
Aurora Group
Aussie Farmers Foundation
Australia Japan Healthcare Network
Australian Scholarships Foundation
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Brett Backhouse
Anthony Ball
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Geoffrey Bazzan & Georgia Cleary
Luca & Anita Belgiorno-Nettis
Natalie Berney
Garry Besson
Fergus Blackstock
Brain Injury Association of NSW
Desmond & Ruth Bright 
Michael Brunton
Connell Burke
Laurence Butler
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Cabra Vale Diggers
CAF Community Fund
Andrew Cameron
Canterbury League Club
Jan Carter
Rahoul & Jinnie Chowdry
Lisa Chung
Clarius Group
Club Marconi
Commonwealth Bank of Australia
Commonwealth Bank of Australia, 
Enterprise Services
Maureen Connell
Corio Foundation
Credit Suisse
Marjorie Cullen

D
Jim Davidson AO
John Delano

E
Earlwood Bardwell Park RSL Club 
Limited
Shula Endrey-Walder
Estate of the late Claire Fischer
Estate of the late Nora Mailfert
Estate of the late Thomas Evan 
Henley

Estate of the late Vera Zukerman
Ralph & Maria Evans
Jean Ewen

F
Fairbridge Foundation
Beverly Fairlie
Dane Fitzgibbon
Albert Flick
D M Foster
Foundation for Rural and Regional 
Renewal
Foundation of Graduates in Early 
Childhood Studies
Guy Fowler
Freedman Foundation

g
Gambling Community Benefit Fund
GLNG Operations Pty Ltd
Gloucester Coal
Goldman Sachs
Anthony Goodwin
Manivannan Gopalakrishnan
Matthew Grounds

H
Ha-Ke-Na Foundation
Evelyn Harris
Philippa Harvie
Steve Hawkins & Alison Baly
Bill & Alison Hayward
M Heath
Anne Hill
Patricia Ho
James Hocking
Richard Hunt
Hunter Hall International Limited

i
Illawarra Catholic Club
Intimo Lingerie

J
J P Morgan
Jennifer & Edward Kerr Foundation
Johnson & Johnson Medical Pty Ltd
G Jordan
Jordan Family Charitable Trust
Jupiters Casino Community 
Benefit Fund

K
Aileen Kadison OAM
K & G Gluck Trust
Andy & Prue Kennard
King & Wood Mallesons
Kingston Sedgfield Charitable Trust
Mary-Therese Knowles

l
Ross & Sara Lane
Robert S Larke
Liangrove Foundation Pty Ltd
Eddie Listorti
Ian Lovett
Diccon & Elizabeth Loxton 
Luca and Anita Belgiorno-Nettis 
Foundation
Luscombe Family Foundation

M
Meryll Macarthur
Macquarie Group Foundation
Maple-Brown Abbott Limited
Maple-Brown Family Charitable 
Trust
Margaret Pemberton Foundation
Marsh Pty Ltd
Patricia McAlary
McLean Foundation
Herbert Menka
Monica Miland
MLC Wealth Management
Theresa Mlikota
Moore Family Philanthropic 
Foundation Limited
Graeme & Margaret Morgan
Morgan Stanley
Richard Moscati
Marian Moufarrige
Catherine Moxham
Alex Mufford
Roger Myers
Philip Myles

N
N & M Hurll Charitable Trust
Network Connectors
Victor Newman
Nova Women’s Accommodation 
and Support Inc

O
Graham & Glynn O’Neill
Debra Oswald
Our Village Foundation

P
Pandanus Projects
Craig Parker
Ian Paterson
Ian Payne
Susan Pearce
Victor John Plummer
Jamie Prell

R
R A Gale Foundation
Hugh Ralston AM & Jan Ralston
Ramsgate RSL Memorial Club Ltd
The Hon. Justice Steven Rares
Reef Hotel Casino Community 
Benefit Fund
Lyndelle Roche
David & Sophie Rothery
Justin & Joanna Ryan
Ryde City Council

S
Jonathan Salmon
Scanlon Foundation
Anita Simons
Slingsby Foundation
Cam Smith
Elizabeth Southcott
Richard Spencer & Emily Booker
Val Steward
Anthony Sweetman
Sydney Opera House

t
Peter Taplin
Elfra Taylor
J & M Taylor
Telstra Corporation Limited
Tigger’s Honeypot Child Care Centre
Tim Fairfax Family Foundation
Helen Tribe
Maria Trinci
Sue Tu

U
UBS

V
Vincent Fairfax Family Foundation

W
Janet Walquist
Walter & Eliza Hall Trust
Robert & Philippa Warren
Bill & Heather Webster
Sam & Judy Weiss
Westpac
WLM Financial Services

Y
Yencity Pty Ltd 
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What is the Benevolent 
Endowment?
At its simplest, the Endowment is a 
secure, long term source of funding 
for the early stages of major social 
innovation projects. We have a 
clear goal for steady growth for the 
Endowment, so each year the Board 
sets a target for the maximum cash 
amount that can be released for The 
Benevolent Society programs without 
endangering the long term health of the 
Endowment. 

Philanthropists who share our desire 
to create social change but do not wish 
to either set up or operate their own 
foundation or private ancillary fund 
can place their gift in our Endowment 
instead, leveraging the benefit of the 
total fund value. 

Seed funding for innovation
The Endowment also provides seed 
money for innovation projects that 
are later expected to become self-
funding. Built up over many years, 
the Endowment gives us the means 
to develop and test new approaches 
to addressing disadvantage including 
Social Leadership Australia, and Social 
Ventures Australia. It enabled us to 
invest in Goodstart, as one of four 
founding syndicate members now 
operating the former ABC Learning 
Centres, and more recently provided 
funding to explore and develop the 
issuance of Social Benefit Bonds.

Why invest with us?
Long term financial security and  
stability is vital for The Benevolent 
Society. It underpins our commitment 
to the Australian community that we 
will be there when they need help – 
now and in the foreseeable future. 

Our approach is based on the principle 
of financial independence so we 
can meet new strategic initiatives in 
response to changing social conditions 
and to support existing initiatives in the 
event of unexpected changes in current 
funding. This is why we have created the 
Benevolent Endowment.

We provide the governance, 
compliance, and process systems 
required to manage and monitor 
performance, relieving donors of any 
administrative burden while ensuring 
funding and social impact criteria 
are met. We take a flexible approach 
to ensure disbursements reflect our 
donors’ interests, including charitable 
causes. Access to the skilled members 
of our Endowment Investment Advisory 
Committee who act in an honorary 
capacity ensures the integrity of the 
Endowment funds, delivering solid 
returns and ongoing growth.

tHE BENEVOlENt ENDOWMENt: 

At the heart of change  
in philanthropy

The Benevolent Endowment is an exciting alternative to 
existing vehicles for philanthropy. It offers a sophisticated 
approach to giving, supported by a simple, well-structured 
process that gives donors flexibility and control. 

More information about the 
Benevolent Endowment can 
be found on page 50.



At the heart of change in philanthropy 29

Justin Wood  
PhD Fin, BCom (Hons), CFA
Justin studied and then was a faculty 
member of the AGSM at the University 
of New South Wales (1982-1997), 
was CEO of Barclays Global Investors 
Australia (2001-2007) and was a 
Board member of the Investment and 
Financial Services Association (IFSA). 
Justin is a founding shareholder in Vinva 
Investment Management.

John Bowers  
MCom Newcastle, A.M. Harvard 
University, CFA, FAICD  
(Resigned 13 May 2013)
John has held senior positions with 
major investment companies including 
Global Head of Fixed Income for 
Barclays Global Investors (2001-2003), 
CEO of Barclays Global Investors 
Australia (1997-2000) and Managing 
Director of Frank Russell Australia 
(1989-1995). Prior to this John was an 
academic with the finance faculty at  
the AGSM at the University of New 
South Wales.

Paul Heath  
BCom, ASIA
Paul was until recently the CEO of 
JBWere, a strategic private wealth 
alliance between National Australia 
Bank and Goldman Sachs. Prior to 
JBWere, Paul was the Managing Director 
of Private Wealth Management for 
Goldman Sachs JBWere and served 
on both the Board and Management 
Committee of Goldman Sachs JBWere. 
Paul serves on the Board of Beyond 
Empathy and the Juvenile Diabetes 
Research Foundation. 

Craig Ueland  
AB Ec (Stanford), MBA (Hons), CFA 
(Appointed 13 May 2013)
Craig held a variety of leadership 
positions in Russell Investments, 
including Managing Director of 
International Operations (1986-1998), 
Chief Operating Officer (1999-2003), 
and President/CEO (2003-2008). 
Craig currently serves on the Board 
of Perpetual Limited, and is on the 
Advisory Board of BuysideFX, a start-up 
investment firm headquartered in the US.

the Endowment 
investment Advisory 
Committee 
Our Board regards the transparent, 
effective management of the 
Endowment investment portfolio as 
a significant responsibility and has 
appointed an independent advisory 
panel: the Endowment Investment 
Advisory Committee.

Bill Webster  
Chairman, F Fin, MAICD  
Bill was a member of The Benevolent 
Society Board (2002–2008) and 
President (2003–2008). He has 
significant general management 
experience gained while at Lend Lease 
Corporation Limited and served as a 
Director (1987–1990). Bill was also a 
Director of a number of MLC entities 
(1986–2012). In addition he also served 
as a Director of the MS Society  
of NSW (2000 – 2004).
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An engaged  
workforce
We’re introducing a new measurement 
tool, the Gallup Q12 survey, to get 
a more accurate measurement of 
employee engagement across the 
organisation, and identify hotspots 
which need attention. We’re pleased 
that our turnover rate has reduced to 
16.4%, well below the sector average 
of 20%. However, we do know that 
turnover for people who have worked 
for us between one and three years 
is higher, and there are opportunities 
to improve our performance in this 
segment through improved recruitment,  
on-boarding and building the capability 
of our managers.

We have plans to introduce a staff 
awards program next year.

Revamping our performance 
management system
We’re simplifying our performance 
management process, so it builds 
clearer accountability measures and 
now includes a new rating for how well 
staff demonstrate organisational values. 
We want greater transparency, and ease 
of use, so the system will be online next 
year.

Defining organisational 
roles, accountabilities and 
remuneration framework
We’ve restructured our Community 
Services team to position us better for 
growing nationally, and to ensure that 
our operating model best supports our 
strategy, and sets us up for long term 
sustainable success in a rapidly changing 
external environment.

A safe and  
healthy workplace
We’re committed to prioritising the 
health and safety of our staff and 
volunteers, and have made a number of 
changes that are designed to promote 
the wellbeing of staff, reduce risks 
to safety and minimise the cost of 
insurance premiums, including:
• launching a new Employee Assistance 

Program – a free, confidential 
counselling service

• transitioning to the ‘retro-paid 
loss premium’ system, where our 
premiums will more closely reflect our 
individual experience and success in 
injury and claims management over a 
period of several years. We anticipate 
this will significantly reduce our 
premiums. 

Some notable achievements this year 
include:
• the cost of claims decreased by 30.6%
• the Lost Time Injury Frequency rate 

has improved significantly over the 
last year and at 11.1 is now well below 
the industry benchmark of 16.2 

• Return to Work Rate has improved 
by 30% as a result of the robust early 
intervention and injury management 
practices embedded over the last 
twelve months

• the Injury Severity Rate was moving in 
a downward trend.

Aligning core human  
resources processes, 
operations and policies
We’re developing a common 
recruitment and on-boarding process to 
maximise employee engagement right 
from the start. We’re also centralising 
a Learning and Development function 
for the organisation, to ensure we’re 
equipping our staff with the skills they 
need to do their jobs. 

Our people are our greatest asset – their development, 
alignment and motivation is key to achieving our strategy, and 
delivering life-changing services to our clients. This year, a new 
human resources strategy was developed, with the aim of 
building a culture of collaboration, agility and engagement. 

Our  
people
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Valuing our  
volunteers
As Australia’s first charity, Benevolent 
Society pioneered volunteering in 
Australia, and without our committed 
and loyal volunteers we wouldn’t have 
survived and thrived for two centuries. 
The hands-on assistance we get from 
our volunteers every day is invaluable – 
without their support, we wouldn’t be 
able to reach as many people in as  
many places.

Volunteers connect with other members 
of their community, meet others from 
different backgrounds and age groups 
and build up a sense of connection and 
belonging in the local area. Research 
showing people who feel connected 
to their communities are healthier and 
happier; volunteering really does benefit 
the whole community.

Each year, we invite staff to nominate 
special volunteers who go the extra 
mile for our clients for the Volunteer 
of the Year awards. We announced the 
winners at a special celebration of our 
200th birthday. 

Mimi Liu
Volunteer of the Year 
Single mother Mimi began translating 
for the local Chinese community 
after she was able to save $500 for a 
TAFE course through the Saver Plus 
program. Saver Plus is delivered by The 
Benevolent Society in southern Sydney 
and assists people on lower incomes 
improve their financial skills. On 
completion of the program, savings are 
matched dollar-for-dollar up to $500 for 
education expenses.

Over the past 18 months, Mimi has 
spent at least 550 hours volunteering 
to let the local community know about 
the Saver Plus program. Thanks to Mimi 
more than 150 people have participated 
in Saver Plus and the Hurstville 
site, where she’s based, is the best 
performer of all 10 sites nationally.

Mimi says, “I want to be able to share 
the Saver Plus program with everyone 
else in my situation. It is not only about 
the money that we got it is about the 
education. This is so helpful for my 
Chinese community.

“I promote this program all the time and 
people never believe me that this is how 
this program works. Because they think 
it’s too good to be true. Who will pay 
you $500 and give you free education? 
But I know because I did it.”

Sue Jilek
Senior Volunteer of the Year
Sue, who is in her 90s, began delivering 
meals for the Northern Beaches Food 
Service in 1980 and has made her 
regular delivery to the Narrabeen 
war veterans retirement village each 
Monday for 33 years while still making 
time to teach new volunteers the ropes.

Salvatore Miceli 
Young Volunteer of the Year 
Twenty-one year-old Salvatore has 
been delivering meals for the Northern 
Beaches Food Service two years 
while studying for a paramedics and 
nursing degree and is well liked for 
his optimism and enthusiasm. What 
makes Salvatore’s commitment to 
the Northern Beaches Food Service 
even more remarkable is that he lives 
in Bathurst where he’s studying for 
a double degree in paramedics and 
nursing and spend six hours each week 
travelling to and from Sydney’s northern 
beaches, just so he can help out.

Photo: Deputy Chairman Robert Fitzgerald AM, 
Salvatore Miceli, Mimi Liu, Sue Jilek and CEO Anne 
Hollonds 
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Sam Weiss  
Chairman 
AB Harvard University, MS Columbia 
Business School, FAICD  
(Director since 14 July 2005)
Sam is Chairman of Altium Ltd and  
Open Universities Australia, and a  
Non-Executive Director of Oroton Group 
Ltd, Breville Limited and the Sydney 
Festival. He is a graduate of the 2002 
Sydney Leadership Program.

Robert Fitzgerald AM 
Deputy Chairman
BCom, LLB  
(Director since 20 November 2006, 
resigned 23 July 2013)
Formerly a commercial solicitor, Robert 
is a Commissioner with the Productivity 
Commission but is on leave following 
his appointment as a Commissioner of 
the Royal Commission into Institutional 
Responses to Child Sexual Abuse. He was 
previously NSW Community and Disability 
Services Commissioner, President of the 
Australian Council of Social Services and 
is Chair, Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Advisory Board. 

Robert Warren  
Chairman Audit, Finance & Risk 
Committee 
BEc, CA, GDIPAppFin, GAICD  
(Director since 19 July 2010)
Rob is a partner in KPMG Australia’s 
Financial Services practice. He is a 
Member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia, a graduate 
of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors and a Graduate from FINSIA. 

Lisa Chung  
LLB, FAIM, FAPI, MAICD  
(Director since 27 June 2011) 
Lisa is a partner at commercial law 
firm, Maddocks. She has completed 
the Advanced Management Program 
at INSEAD, France and the Australian 
Institute of Company Directors course. 
She has acted extensively for a number 
of pro bono clients, including Habitat for 
Humanity and the Aboriginal Housing 
Company. She is also a Director of 
Australian Institute of Management 
NSW/ACT. 

Gary Moore  
BA, BSocWk, MMgt  
(Director since 20 November 2006)
Gary is the CEO of Homelessness NSW. 
He is a former Director of Community 
Services at Marrickville Council and 
from 1995-2006 was the CEO of Council 
of Social Service of NSW (NCOSS), 
the State’s peak non-government 
human services body. He is currently 
Chairperson of Healthy Kids – the NSW 
School Canteens Association and a 
Board Member of the Mental Health 
Association of NSW. He is a graduate of 
the 2000 Sydney Leadership program.

Justin Ryan  
BEc LLB (Sydney), MBA (Wharton),  
F Fin, FAICD  
(Director since 15 August 2008)
Justin joined Quadrant Private Equity as 
a Director in February 2011. Prior to this 
he was CEO and Managing Director of 
Alesco Corporation Limited, an ASX 200 
diversified industrial company which he 
joined in 2004. He is Chairman of the 
Human Resources Committee.
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Meet our Board  
of Directors
See page 38 for our full Governance Statement.

Sam Weiss  
Chairman

Kathleen Conlon  

Robert Fitzgerald AM 
Deputy Chairman

Robert Warren  
Chairman AF&R

Joan Lind  Tanya Gilerman  

Lisa Chung  

Professor Jan 
Carter AM 

Gary Moore  

Tim Beresford  

Justin Ryan  

Professor Karen 
Healy  



Kathleen Conlon  
BA (Econ), MBA  
(Director since 14 February 2013) 
Kathleen is a professional non- 
executive director and thought leader  
in operational improvement and 
strategy. She is a Director of CSR,  
REA Group and Lynas, and is current 
NSW President AICD and serves on the 
AICD National Board. She was awarded 
the Commonwealth Centenary Medal 
for services to business leadership in 
2003. Kathleen is a member of Chief 
Executive Women.

Professor Jan Carter AM 
MPhil, MSci (Econ), BA, Dip SocStud, 
MAICD  
(Director since 4 April 2011) 
Jan is a social worker, social researcher, 
writer and social policy analyst. She 
has held professorial posts in two 
universities and is Adjunct Professor in 
three universities. She is Foundation 
Director of the Australian College of 
Social Work and was awarded the 
Commonwealth Centenary medal for 
services to social welfare.

Tim Beresford  
BEc(Hons), LLB MPhil (International 
Relations) ASIA, MAICD  
(Director since 14 February 2013)
Tim is the Executive Director, Australian 
Operations with the Australian Trade 
Commission (Austrade). Prior to 
Austrade, Tim was First Assistant 
Secretary of the Social Policy Division 
in Department of the Prime Minister 
and Cabinet. Tim has also worked at 
Westpac Banking Corporation and with 
McKinsey & Co on strategic, operational 
and organisational issues.

Professor Karen Healy  
PhD, BSocWk (Hons)  
(Director since 4 April 2011) 
Karen is Professor in the School of 
Social Work and Human Services at 
The University of Queensland. She 
is a leading social work research and 
President of the Australian Association 
of Social Workers. She is also past 
President of the Australian Association 
for Social Work Education.

Joan Lind  
BA  
(Director since 18 August 2008,  
resigned 18 March 2013)
Joan is a partner at The One Centre, 
a branded arts and entertainment 
strategic and creative agency. She 
spent eight years at M&C Saatchi, 
Sydney, creating campaigns for NSW 
Government, corporate clients such 
as Qantas, Optus and Audi as well as 
charities such as The Shepherd Centre, 
School for Deaf Children and Kids 
Helpline via Optus. In London at AMV 
BBDO she was involved in a corporate 
mentoring program for children in 
underprivileged communities.

Tanya Gilerman  
BEc, ACA, CPA  
(Director since 15 March 2005,  
resigned 3 September 2012)
Tanya is a partner and COO of KPMG 
Australia’s Audit practice. She is a 
Member of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia and the 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors. She is a graduate of the  
2006 Sydney Leadership program.
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Patron
Her Excellency 
Professor Marie Bashir AC CVO
Governor of New South Wales 

Board Committees
Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 
Rob Warren (Chairman)
Jan Carter
Lisa Chung
Tim Beresford
Sam Weiss ex officio

Human Resources Committee 
Justin Ryan (Chairman)
Karen Healy 
Joan Lind
Kathleen Conlon
Sam Weiss ex officio

National Policy and Advocacy  
Committee  
formerly National Influence Board Working Group
Robert Fitzgerald (Chairman)
Jan Carter
Joan Lind
Gary Moore
Sam Weiss ex officio

Endowment Investment  
Advisory Committee
Bill Webster (Chairman)
John Bowers
Paul Heath
Justin Wood
Craig Ueland
Sam Weiss & Rob Warren ex officio

Marie Bashir
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More information about 
our Senior Executives can 
be found in the About Us 
section of our website.

Company Secretary / general Counsel

Meet our  
Senior Executives  

* From October 2013

Anne Hollonds  
BA, BSocStud, MBA, MAICD 
Chief Executive Officer

Sarah Fogg  
(since September 2012) 
BSc (Hons), MA (Public and 
Social Administration) 
Acting General Manager 
Social Policy and Research

 Wendy Haigh  
BA (Hons), FCA, MAICD 
Executive Director*  
Finance and Business 
Services

Joanne Toohey 
(since April 2013) 
RN 
Executive Director* 
Community Services South

Nicole Schleicher  
BA, GMQ, MBA 
Executive Director* 
Development and Service 
Quality

Matt Gardiner  
(since March 2013) 
BSocSc (Couns), MCouns 
Executive Director* 
Community Services North

Alexandra Rose 
(since October 2012) 
LLB. Grad Dip Legal Prac, 
FCIS, GAID, TEP 
Company Secretary / 
General Counsel

Elaine Leong 
(to December 2012) 
BA, LLB, BA Comms (Hons) 
Grad Dip Legal Prac 
Company Secretary / 
General Counsel

Steve Hawkins  
BEcon, MBA 
General Manager  
Business Development 

 Geoff Aigner  
MSD, MBA 
Director  
Social Leadership Australia

Tracey Young  
BA (Communications) (Hons) 
Executive Director* 
Marketing, Communications 
and Advocacy

Damien Byers  
(since March 2013) 
PhD  
Executive Director*  
People, Learning and 
Culture
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This financial report covers The 
Benevolent Society and is presented in 
Australian currency.
The Benevolent Society is a company 
limited by guarantee, incorporated and 
domiciled in Australia. Its registered 
place of business is:
The Benevolent Society 
Level 1, 188 Oxford Street 
Paddington NSW 2021
A description of the nature of The 
Benevolent Society’s operations and its 
principal activities is included in the 
review of operations and activities in 
the Directors’ Report.
The financial report was authorised for 
issue by the Directors on 23 September, 
2013. The Directors have the power to 
amend and reissue the financial report.
Through the use of the internet, we 
have ensured that our reporting is 
timely and complete. All press releases, 
financial reports and other information 
are available on our website: 
www.benevolent.org.au
 
ABN 95 084 695 045

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers
201 Sussex Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Bankers
Commonwealth Bank
363 George Street
Sydney NSW 2000

Solicitors
Baker & McKenzie
50 Bridge Street
Sydney NSW 2000

King & Wood Mallesons
1 Farrer Place
Sydney NSW 2000
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Governance 
Statement

We are committed to conducting our affairs and 
services with the highest standards of personal and 
corporate integrity. 

The Benevolent Society is a public 
benevolent institution operating as a 
company limited by guarantee. Its 
activities are regulated by the 
Corporations Act and other State and 
Commonwealth Laws as applicable and 
The Benevolent Society’s Constitution. 
Since December 2012, we have been 
regulated by the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission (ACNC), the 
Commonwealth Government’s 
independent regulator of charities.
The Benevolent Society has a Board of 
Directors which is chaired by the 
Chairman. No Directors receive 
remuneration, though reasonable 
expenses incurred on Society business 
may be reimbursed.

The duties and responsibilities of the 
Board are as follows: 
• to set our strategic direction
• to ensure that The Benevolent Society 

is managed responsibly and 
competently

• to ensure that The Benevolent Society
is responsible and accountable to
all stakeholders

• to ensure The Benevolent Society’s
sound financial performance

• to ensure The Benevolent Society
complies with the law and a high
level of ethical standards

• to ensure effective management
of risks

• to monitor the effectiveness
of all services.

This statement is written to help the 
Board and all The Benevolent Society’s 
stakeholders to understand how the 
Board of Directors perform their roles.
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Directors’ personal 
engagement with 
The Benevolent Society
We expect our Directors to support and 
promote our core values.
It is the Board’s responsibility to ensure 
that The Benevolent Society maximises 
opportunities to achieve its purpose.
The Board works with Management to 
prepare a Strategic Plan. Management 
reports on a regular basis against the 
objectives set out in that Plan.
The Benevolent Society’s strategic goals, 
priorities, and resource allocations are 
reviewed, discussed and affirmed by the 
Board and Management at a joint 
annual planning session.
Directors are expected to visit or attend 
a range of The Benevolent Society’s 
facilities, services and functions each 
year, including presentations by 
practitioners and social policy experts.
We have an induction program to help 
new Directors understand The 
Benevolent Society’s strategic and 
operational position, our responsibilities 
to our various stakeholders and the 
wider community context in which we 
operate.

The Board lays solid 
foundations for effective 
management 
Our Board and Management have 
clearly defined roles. The Chairman and 
CEO ensure that our Directors and 
Management team understand their 
responsibilities.
The Board approves The Benevolent 
Society’s strategic objectives and holds 
Management accountable to competently 
and responsibly achieve them.
Management is responsible for the 
implementation of the Strategic Plan, 
within the risk, financial and other 
frameworks set by the Board. In 
addition, Management is expected to 
introduce to the Board outcomes of 
research and suggestions for additional 
initiatives that are aligned with The 
Benevolent Society’s purpose.
To enable Management to fulfil its role 
appropriately, the Board:
• appoints the CEO
• delegates authority to the CEO and 

reviews the CEO’s performance 
annually

• appoints the company secretary
• participates in developing and 

approving the strategic objectives of 
the organisation

• ratifies and monitors implementation 
of strategic goals through the review 
of annual business plans and budgets

• approves and monitors major 
initiatives that may affect the overall 
financial performance and financial 
health of The Benevolent Society

• approves the annual budget and 
regularly monitors financial 
performance

• reviews risk management and 
compliance systems on an ongoing 
basis

• periodically and as required reviews 
ethical policies, standards and codes 
of conduct

• actively considers the interests of 
stakeholders in its decision making

• meets regularly with members of The 
Benevolent Society’s Management team.

The Board has delegated some of its 
functions to Board Committees within 
clearly defined limits.
The day-to-day management of The 
Benevolent Society’s activities is 
delegated to the CEO. The CEO briefs 
the Chairman regularly on emerging and 
ongoing issues, and updates all Directors 
on matters of importance, as 
appropriate, between Board meetings.
The Company Secretary is responsible to 
the Board on governance matters. The 
Company Secretary supports the 
effectiveness of the Board and gives 
practical effect to the Board’s decisions. 
The Company Secretary also administers 
the Governance Manual which outlines 
the key governance arrangements of The 
Benevolent Society and a Board Protocol.

1 2



40 Benevolent Society Annual Report 2013

The Board adds value and 
is structured accordingly 
The Benevolent Society believes that its 
interests will be best served if the Board 
incorporates an appropriate range of 
skills and experience to govern The 
Benevolent Society’s affairs properly 
and that collectively, the Board will have 
the expertise to address all issues and 
challenges The Benevolent Society is 
likely to face.
Directors are expected to prepare for, 
and participate in, Board and Committee 
meetings. Directors also have ready 
access to the CEO and members of the 
Management team at all times to 
enquire about matters and provide 
advice and guidance.
The Constitution stipulates that the 
number of Directors of The Benevolent 
Society will be not less than five and not 
more than 12.
Any Director who is not an Office Bearer, 
who has held office for 3 years since  
last being elected, must retire from 
office. They may offer themselves for 
re-election at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). Directors appointed by 
the Board during the course of the year 
must submit themselves for election by 
the Members at the next AGM.
Office Bearers (Chairman, Deputy 
Chairman and Chairman of the Audit, 
Finance and Risk Committee) cannot 
serve more than five consecutive years 
in one position.

Appointment of Directors
We select Directors who identify with 
and support our core values.
When seeking an additional Director for 
appointment the Board follows a policy 
of attracting the best talent that may be 
available. A Board Committee, headed 
by the Chairman, is authorised to 
consider potential appointees, conduct 
interviews and make recommendations 
to the full Board. The Committee will 
typically comprise the Chairman, Deputy 

Chairman and one or two other 
Directors. Where appropriate, an 
external executive search firm may  
be used.

Board Review
The Board undertakes Board reviews via 
internal and external means. The most 
recent Board Review was completed at 
the start of the reporting period in July 
2012. The purpose of the review is to 
identify issues relating to the skills, 
behaviours, relationships or practices 
that might be inhibiting the Board from 
being fully effective.
The Board has three standing 
Committees: Audit, Finance and Risk, 
Human Resources and National Policy 
and Advocacy, with charters set by the 
Board and specific delegated authority 
on some matters. The Board also has a 
standing advisory Endowment 
Investment Committee. 
Other committees are created on an ad 
hoc basis, usually with limited duration 
to address a specific matter or initiative. 
In 2013 the Board formed two Advisory 
Committees; Property and IT.

We respect the rights and 
interests of our stakeholders
We deal with our stakeholders in 
accordance with our values.
Stakeholders include clients and former 
clients; recipients of our services; 
program funders, donors and grantors; 
Members; suppliers; staff and 
volunteers; graduates of The Benevolent 
Society’s social leadership programs; 
individuals who have a demonstrated 
interest in The Benevolent Society’s 
work; academics and public thinkers 
who have an interest in the fields in 
which The Benevolent Society works; 
and the wider communities in which we 
operate, including individuals, other 
agencies and government entities. 
Particular attention is paid to the 
relationship between The Benevolent 
Society and the various government 
bodies that fund a large number of The 
Benevolent Society’s programs and to 
whom we are required to report to 
demonstrate our effectiveness.
We encourage feedback from our 
stakeholders, and our decision-making 
framework ensures their needs are 
considered when we develop services 
and procedures.

3 4
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We desire a special 
relationship with our 
Members
The Board is accountable to the Members 
for the conduct of The Benevolent 
Society’s affairs. In particular the Board 
expects Members to hold it accountable 
for the long-term management of The 
Benevolent Society’s financial resources.
The Benevolent Society seeks to have its 
various stakeholders represented in its 
membership.
Members are encouraged to engage with 
The Benevolent Society to support the 
direction and purpose of The Benevolent 
Society’s work and participate in some 
measure in The Benevolent Society’s 
activities.
Members receive regular 
communications about The Benevolent 
Society’s activities and progress.

We require integrity 
in financial management 
and reporting
Appropriate management of The Benevolent 
Society’s financial affairs is fundamental to 
the financial health of The Benevolent 
Society and its ability to satisfy its expanding 
service obligations.
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 
is a standing Committee of the Board. Its 
objectives are to assist the Board to 
discharge its responsibilities in respect 
of The Benevolent Society’s:
• financial management 
• internal control systems 
• risk management system 
• protection of its assets 
• annual budget and financial reporting 
• application of accounting policies 
• business policies and practices 
• compliance with applicable laws, 

regulations, standards and 
practice guidelines.

In doing this it is intimately involved in the 
annual budgeting process, investment 
policies, insurance policy management 
and engagement with external auditors.
The Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 
comprises at least three Directors. The 
CEO, CFO, and from time to time other 
executives, are invited to attend meetings. 
The Committee is provided with written 
reports from the CEO and CFO confirming 
that the financial reports present a true 
and fair view of all aspects of The 
Benevolent Society’s financial results.
Once a year the Audit, Finance and Risk 
Committee interviews the external 
auditors, without Management being 
present.
The Chairman of the Audit, Finance and 
Risk Committee, who chairs the 
Committee meetings, reports to the full 
Board at the next Board meeting and 
submits recommendations to the Board 
as determined by the Committee.
 

We manage risk and  
monitor compliance
We have a risk management plan that is 
reviewed regularly by the Audit, Finance 
and Risk Committee. Assessment, 
control and treatment of risks are built 
into our annual cycle of risk review and 
operating plans.
Compliance is managed in the 
following ways.
• The Human Resources (HR) 

Committee reviews all matters to do 
with personnel, including Work Health 
and Safety (WHS) and other statutory 
requirements for the safety and 
wellbeing of our staff and volunteers.

• The Audit, Finance and Risk 
Committee receives and considers 
management representations 
confirming The Benevolent Society’s 
compliance with relevant legislation 
including, without limitation, the 
Corporations Act, fundraising 
legislation, the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission 
(ACNC) and Australian Securities and 
Investment Commission (ASIC) 
requirements and our taxation status.

• The Board reviews compliance with 
the various compliance provisions and 
accreditation regimes for our clients 
including child care and aged care.

• All research projects require approval 
by a staff research approval 
committee, and are subjected to 
scrutiny by a Research Ethics 
Committee.

• All material breaches of policies other 
than HR policies are required to be 
reported to the Audit, Finance and 
Risk Committee.

Legal risk is monitored, reviewed and 
managed by The Benevolent Society’s 
General Counsel and reported to the 
Board. 

5 6 7
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We value our people 
The people who work at The Benevolent 
Society demonstrate a high level of 
concern for the disadvantaged, a strong 
social conscience and a passionate 
loyalty to our clients and our 
organisation. It is vitally important that 
The Benevolent Society respects their 
contribution to society at large and to 
The Benevolent Society in particular. 
Accordingly, our HR practices must be  
of the highest quality.
The HR Committee is a standing 
Committee of the Board and 
is responsible for:
• reviewing the overall HR strategy and 

monitoring its implementation
• monitoring the implementation of 

strategic HR policies and plans relating 
to remuneration and benefits, talent 
management, culture and employee 
engagement, performance 
management and WHS

• recommendations to the Board 
regarding the remuneration and other 
terms and conditions for the CEO and 
Management team members

• recommendations to the Board of 
budget parameters for the annual 
remuneration review

• reviewing the selection and 
remuneration of direct reports to  
the CEO

• monitoring development and 
succession plans of the Management 
team and other ‘business critical’ roles

• monitoring the culture and 
engagement levels of the organisation

• reviewing annual salary and award 
levels in the community and 
government sectors.

The Committee comprises at least three 
Directors. The CEO and Director of 
Human Resources are invited to attend 
meetings.
The Chairman of the Committee reports 
to the full Board at the next meeting 
and submits recommendations to the 
Board as determined by the Committee.
The CEO’s performance and remuneration 
are reviewed by the full Board.
We have a positive and engaged 
volunteering culture and offer a range  
of opportunities for individuals and 
organisations to contribute to our 
community work. We value and publicly 
recognise the contribution of our 
volunteers in various forums and 
formats throughout the year.

The Board recognises good 
governance goes beyond policies, 
protocols and procedures and  
values-driven behaviour cannot be 
forced. When The Benevolent Society’s 
people embrace the organisation’s 
beliefs and bring them to life every day, 
in everything they do, The Benevolent 
Society will achieve its purpose.

8
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The Benevolent Society’s 
regulatory environment

As a registered non-profit organisation 
and a public company limited by 
guarantee, The Benevolent Society 
operates within the following legal and 
regulatory framework: 
• Since December 2012, we are 

regulated by the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profits Commission 
(ACNC), the Commonwealth’s 
independent regulator of charities.

• We are authorised under the 
Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 to 
fundraise in NSW.

• We are registered as a charity under 
the provisions of the Queensland 
Government Collections Act 1966 to 
fundraise in Queensland.

• We are registered as a public 
benevolent institution with the 
Australian Taxation Office and 
endorsed to access the following tax 
concession:

 – Income tax exemption
 – Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
charity concessions

 – Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT) exemption 
subject to a threshold

 – Refunds on franking credits.
We are also endorsed as a Deductible 
Gift Recipient.
As part of our service delivery we also 
comply with various service-specific 
legislation and regulations ranging from 
childcare to ageing.
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Directors’ Report 
30 June 2013

The Directors present their Report for 
the year ended 30 June 2013.

Directors
The following people were Directors of 
The Benevolent Society during the 
whole of the financial year up to the 
date of this Report:
Sam Weiss (Chairman)
Robert Fitzgerald AM (Deputy 
Chairman) (resigned 23 July 2013)
Robert Warren (Chairman, Audit, 
Finance and Risk Committee)
Kathleen Conlon (appointed 14 
February 2013)
Joan Lind (resigned 18 March 2013)
Tanya Gilerman (resigned 3 September 
2012)
Gary Moore
Justin Ryan
Jan Carter
Lisa Chung
Tim Beresford (appointed 14 February 
2013)
Karen Healy
All Directors are members of The  
Benevolent Society (see note 16(a)  
for more information).

Purpose
As Australia’s first charity, The 
Benevolent Society has been a catalyst 
for social change for 200 years. Our 
purpose is to empower and educate for 
personal and societal change and our 
vision is for a just and compassionate 
society where everyone thrives.
Growing disparity in income and job 
opportunities is reshaping Australia, 
creating affluence and privilege in some 
areas while concentrating social and 
economic disadvantage in others. That is 
why we invest energy and resources into 
grass roots projects in areas 
characterised by disadvantage. 

Supporting people of all ages to build a 
sense of hope and belonging helps them 
to cope better with life’s challenges. All 
Australians deserve the chance to reach 
their full potential, no matter where 
they’re born or live.

Strategies
Our Strategic Plan gives us direction, 
highlights the social policy changes we 
believe are needed and helps us bring 
our purpose to life. Defining measurable 
goals and targets helps to keep us on 
track and ensures our efforts lead to 
tangible social impact.
During the past Financial Year, we have 
worked towards the objectives in our 
2012-2015 Interim Strategic Plan, which 
are grouped under three Strategic Goals:

1. Influence social change nationally
We will grow our knowledge, leadership 
and capacity to influence social change 
in Australia and be recognised.

2. Results in communities
We will support children, young people, 
families and older people to become 
more resilient and connected in their 
communities.

3. Be an agile and robust learning 
organisation
We will develop people, culture, systems 
and resources we need to deliver our 
services effectively. We will use new 
technologies to drive our business and 
support innovation, social enterprise 
and corporate partnerships.
This year we also presented our new 
Strategic Plan to the Board. This took 
effect from 1 July 2013 and will guide 
our activities for the three year period 
2013-2016.

Principal Activities
People find themselves vulnerable for all 
sorts of reasons: financial hardship, 
mental health issues, family breakdown, 
or simply as a result of growing older. 

The breadth of our service offering 
allows us to be flexible in how we 
respond to these social issues, so we can 
find a way to help people cope with life’s 
challenges, whatever their 
circumstances.
We work with people of all ages and 
backgrounds, in 474 postcodes across 
New South Wales, Queensland, Victoria 
and South Australia. We create positive 
social change ‘on the ground’ by 
delivering quality community services 
and offering training and development 
to other non-profits. We influence social 
policy nationally through our research 
and advocacy work, our thought 
leadership activities and by bringing the 
community, corporate and government 
sectors together in our social leadership 
programs, to collaborate on finding new 
answers to social issues.
Building stronger families and resilient 
children is the main area of focus, and 
includes foster care, child protection, 
early intervention and community 
capacity building work. We also provide 
services that offer pathways to better 
mental health and wellbeing, including 
programs to address domestic violence 
and drug and alcohol addiction. We 
continue to provide counselling and 
support for people affected by 
adoption, which has national reach 
through online networks.
We have increased our focus on early 
intervention because it makes common 
sense and economic sense. Early action 
refers to intervening as early as possible 
to tackle problems for children and 
young people before they become 
difficult and costly to fix and we have 
expanded our work in mental health 
support services, working with young 
people to de- stigmatise mental illness.
Everything we do is underpinned by the 
skills of our workforce, the passion of 
our volunteers and our generous 
donors, corporate partners and funders. 
The Benevolent Society employs 992 
staff, the equivalent of 724 full time staff 
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throughout New South Wales, 
Queensland, Victoria and South 
Australia. Approximately 722 volunteers 
are involved in our community services 
and in ‘back office’ roles supporting our 
corporate services teams, including 
Communications, Fundraising and our 
200 Years Celebration campaign. We 
also partner with a wide range of 
non-profit agencies, academic bodies 
and government departments.

Performance measurement
The Benevolent Society monitors 
performance through a series of 
benchmarks including:
• the cost-effectiveness of fundraising 

activities
• the cost of administration and indirect 

costs to support operations
• actual performance versus budgeted 

performance
• program outputs versus targeted 

outputs
• wages and salaries.
We also evaluate program delivery 
outcomes through client feedback 
surveys and evaluation studies.

Review of operations 
and results
The Benevolent Society experienced 
another year of significant growth. 
Additional funding was received for 
Fostering Young Lives and Brighter 
Futures. Funding was also secured to set 
up two Family Mental Health Support 
Services, two Family Referral Services, 
and Community Programs on the Central 
Coast.
Revenue from The Benevolent Society’s 
Help at Home and Consumer Directed 
Care services grew by 14% due to 
increases in client numbers in South West 
and Western Sydney.
Significant capital was spent on our 
information technology and business 
systems which has expanded our 
infrastructure and network capacity to 
support growth.
Substantial time was invested in the ‘Year 
Three’ activities detailed in our 2012-
2015 Strategic Plan. We particularly 
focused on developing our community- 
centred practice approach, implementing 
a resilience practice framework, 
publishing more Research to Practice 
Briefings, finalising our Reconciliation 
Action Plan and speaking out about early 
intervention.

Total Comprehensive Income
Total comprehensive income for the 
year was $4,347,000 (2012: $2,351,000) 
comprising a net surplus of $1,240,000 
(2012: $3,105,000) and a net increase in 
the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets of $3,107,000 (2012: net 
decrease of $754,000).

Revenue
See Revenue chart on page 46. 
• Revenue from continuing operations 

grew by 12% this year from 
$81,748,000 to $91,960,000.

• An increase in government funding of 
12% has driven this revenue growth.

• Revenue from our investment in the 
Endowment and in Goodstart 
amounted to $6,037,000 (2012: 
$3,731,000).

Expenses
See Expenses chart below.
• Expenses from continuing operations 

grew by 13% from $80,431,000 to 
$90,720,000.

• This is in line with the growth in our 
funding.

• The cost of managing The Benevolent 
Society’s Endowment portfolio and 
investment in Goodstart was less than 
1% of Endowment assets.
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Assets
Total assets increased by 7% from 
$110,206,000 to $117,388,000.

Liabilities
Liabilities increased by 15% to $21,990,000. 
The increase of $2,835,000 was primarily 
due to increases in trade payables due to 
increased activity and growth.

Net Assets
The Benevolent Society’s net assets 
increased by 5% to $95,398,000. The 
increase of $4,347,000 was primarily 
due to increases in the value of the 
Endowment and the surplus for the year.

Cash Flows
Cash reserves increased by $2,283,000 
this year.
• Operating activities generated a cash 

surplus of $340,000 primarily due to 
cash generated from operating 
surpluses for the year of $1,240,000.

• Our investment activities generated a 
cash surplus of $2,012,000 resulting 
mainly from managed fund 
distributions, franking credits and 
interest received.

• Financing activities generated a cash 
deficit of $69,000 resulting from the 
repayment of resident contributions.

Significant changes in the 
state of affairs
There was no significant change in the 
state of affairs of The Benevolent 
Society during the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the 
end of the financial year
Subsequent to balance date, The 
Benevolent Society agreed to invest 
$1,000,000 in Social Benefit Bonds to be 
issued by Perpetual Corporate Trust 
Limited as trustee for The Benevolent 
Society Social Benefit Trust No.1.
The purpose of the issue of bonds is to 
finance a $10,000,000 intensive family 
support service. The service offers 
support to families whose children are 
at risk of being placed in out-of-home 
care. The service will be conducted by 
The Benevolent Society over a 5 year 
period commencing in October 2013.
There has not been any other matter or 
circumstance that has arisen since the 
end of the financial year that has 
significantly affected, or may 
significantly affect, the operations of 
The Benevolent Society, the results of 
those operations, or the state of affairs 
of The Benevolent Society in future 
financial years.

Likely developments 
and expected results 
of operations 
In the opinion of the Directors there are 
no likely changes in The Benevolent 
Society’s operations which will adversely 
affect The Benevolent Society.

Dividends
The Benevolent Society is a company 
limited by guarantee. It is prohibited by 
its Constitution from paying dividends 
to members.
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Information on Directors
The people listed below were Directors 
of The Benevolent Society during the 
financial year and up to the date of this 
report.

Directors’ meetings
This table below shows the number of 
Board and Board sub-committee 
meetings held while the person was a 
Director, during the year ended 30 June 
2013, and the number of meetings 
attended by each Director:

Retirement, election and continuation 
in office of Directors
Robert Fitzgerald was a Director and 
Deputy Chairman from the beginning of 
the financial year until his resignation on 
23 July 2013.
Tim Beresford and Kathleen Conlon 
were appointed as Directors on 14 
February 2013 and continue in office at 
the date of this report.
Tanya Gilerman was a Director from the 
beginning of the financial year until her 
resignation on 3 September 2012.

Joan Lind was a Director from the 
beginning of the financial year until her 
resignation on 18 March 2013.

Remuneration of Directors
The Benevolent Society’s Directors are 
not remunerated.

Loans to Directors and executives
There are no loans to The Benevolent 
Society’s Directors or Executives.

Insurance of officers
During the financial year, The Benevolent 
Society paid premiums of $26,450 (2012: 
$34,992) to insure its Directors, 
Secretary, and all executive officers of 
The Benevolent Society against a liability 
incurred by them, to the extent 
permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.
The Benevolent Society is insured for 
any loss for which a Director or officer 
becomes legally obligated to pay 
resulting from a wrongful act and any 
amount for which The Benevolent 
Society indemnifies any Director, 
Secretary or executive officer in respect 
of any claims made against the Director 
or officer arising from a wrongful act.

In 2013, The Benevolent Society has 
entered into deeds of access, indemnity 
and insurance for the benefit of 
Directors, executive officers and senior 
management.

Proceedings on behalf 
of The Benevolent Society
No person has applied to the Court 
under section 237 of the Corporations 
Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings 
on behalf of The Benevolent Society, nor 
to intervene in any proceedings to which 
The Benevolent Society is a party, for 
the purpose of taking responsibility on 
behalf of The Benevolent Society for all 
or part of those proceedings.
No proceedings have been brought or 
intervened in on behalf of The 
Benevolent Society, with leave of the 
Court under section 237 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Non-audit services
The Benevolent Society may decide  
to employ the auditors 
(PricewaterhouseCoopers) on 
assignments additional to their statutory 
audit duties, where the Auditor’s 

Board  
of Directors

Audit, Finance and 
Risk Committee

Human Resources 
Committee

Director Held Attended Held Attended Held Attended

Tim Beresford 3 2 3 1 – –

Jan Carter 8 6 4 3 – –

Lisa Chung 8 7 4 2 – –

Kathleen Conlon 3 3 – – 1 1

Robert Fitzgerald 8 8 – – – –

Tanya Gilerman 2 2 – – – –

Karen Healy 8 6 – – 3 2

Joan Lind 6 5 – – 3 2

Gary Moore 8 6 – – – –

Justin Ryan 8 6 – – 3 3

Robert Warren 8 8 4 4 – –

Sam Weiss 8 8 4 4 3 2

 
Composition of the Board

Female 50%
Male 50%
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expertise and previous experience with 
The Benevolent Society is relevant. 
These assignments are principally in 
relation to assurance on the acquittal  
of government grants.
It is The Benevolent Society’s policy to 
seek competitive tenders for all major 
consulting projects. Details of the 
amounts paid or payable to the auditors 
for audit and non-audit services provided 
during the year are set out below.
In accordance with advice received from 
the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee, 
the Board of Directors is satisfied that 
the provision of non-audit services is 
compatible with the general standard of 
independence for auditors imposed by 
the Corporations Act 2001.
The Directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services by the 
auditors, as set out below, did not 
compromise the Auditor’s independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001 for the following reasons:
• All non-audit services have been 

reviewed by the Audit, Finance and 

Risk Committee to ensure they do not 
impact the impartiality and objectivity 
of the auditors.

• None of the services undermine the 
general principles relating to Auditor’s 
independence as set out in APES 110 
Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants.

External audit policy
The Benevolent Society’s external audit 
policy is to not exceed a ratio of 1:1 for 
audit work to non-audit work fees.

Auditor’s independence 
declaration
A copy of the auditor’s independence 
declaration is set out on page 49, as 
required under section 307c of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

Rounding of amounts 
In relation to the “rounding off” of 
amounts in the Directors’ Report, The 
Benevolent Society is a company of the 

kind referred to in Class Order 98/100 
issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission.
Amounts in the Directors’ Report have 
been rounded off in accordance with 
that Class Order to the nearest thousand 
dollars, and in certain cases, to the 
nearest dollar.

Auditor
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues 
in office in accordance with section  
327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance  
with a resolution of Directors.

Sam Weiss 
Chairman 
Sydney 
23 September 2013

Assurance Services
2013 

$
2012 

$

Audit services

PricewaterhouseCoopers:  
Audit of financial reports and other audit work under 
the Corporations Act 2001 62,500 62,500

Total remuneration for audit services 62,500 62,500

Other assurance services

PricewaterhouseCoopers:  
Review of government grant financial reports  22,500  22,500

Total remuneration for other assurance services 22,500 22,500

Total remuneration for assurance services 85,000 85,000
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Governance
The Endowment is governed by The Endowment Investment 
Advisory Committee (“the Committee”) in accordance with its 
Charter as agreed by the Board. It is a standing advisory 
committee to the Board.
The purpose of the Committee is to advise the Board on the 
following aspects of the Endowment:
• Investment and disbursement policy
• Investment strategy
• Implementation of the investment strategy
• Reviewing the outcomes
• Evolution of policy and strategy
• Reporting on disbursements, distributions and investment 

performance.

Members
The Committee Members as appointed by the Board are 
shown with full bios on page 29 of this report.
Chairman: Bill Webster F Fin, MAICD  
(Appointed March 2009).
John Bowers MCom Newcastle, A.M. Harvard University, CFA, 
FAICD (Appointed March 2009. Resigned 13 May 2013).
Paul Heath BCom, ASIA (Appointed March 2009). 
Justin Wood PhD Fin, BCom (Hons), CFA  
(Appointed July 2009).
Craig Ueland AB Ec (Stanford), MBA (Hons), CFA 
(Appointed May 2013).

The Endowment structure
In the latter part of the 2011 financial year, after delineating 
which assets would be included in the Endowment and 
managed under advice by the Committee, the portfolio 
underwent a substantial restructuring where specific business 
and freehold property assets were separated from 
Endowment assets.
Previously The Benevolent Society’s investment assets were in 
four portfolios: short term (effectively cash), medium term, 
long term and freehold property. The medium and long term 
portfolios had separate objectives and risk profiles.
With effect from the beginning of the 2011 financial year the 
Endowment has been structured as a well diversified portfolio 
designed specifically to provide a high probability of meeting 
The Benevolent Society’s ongoing needs (income) and longer 
term needs (maintenance of capital value in real terms).
A Strategic Asset Allocation (on page 51) has been determined 
that will govern the shape of the portfolio. Under advice from 
the Committee the actual exposures may deviate from this 
allocation, provided rational arguments are presented to the 
Board. The long term Strategic Asset Allocations are subject to 
review annually.

Endowment Report 
30 June 2013
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For an overview, features and benefits of the Benevolent Endowment, refer to page 28.
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The exposures as at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2013 were:

Strategic 
Asset  

Allocation

Actual  
Allocation 

2012

Actual  
Allocation 

2013

Equities 52% 52% 52%
Domestic Equities 36% 35% 35%
International Equities 
(Unhedged) 8% 14% 11%
International Equities 
(Hedged) 8% 3% 6%
Property 20% 19% 19%
Domestic Direct Property 20% 4% 4%
Domestic Direct Property 
(proxy) – 15% 15%
Bonds & cash 28% 29% 29%
Domestic Inflation Linked 
Bonds 15% 16% 13%
Domestic Fixed Income 8% 6% 5%
Domestic cash 5% 7% 11%

100% 100% 100%

In order to maintain value and provide some yield, part of the 
property exposure has been proxied with a holding of cash and 
inflation linked bonds. Appropriate freehold property held by 
The Benevolent Society has not been available for inclusion in 
the Endowment. This is seen as a temporary position.
The Strategic Asset Allocation did not change over the year.
• The Strategic Asset Allocation has been designed to produce, 

over a 7 year time frame, a real return averaging about 3.5% p.a. 
with volatility close to 10%.

• A long term disbursement rate of 3.5% has been agreed for 2014 
which will result in approximately $2,000,000 for The Benevolent 
Society’s programs (2013: $2,000,000).

2013 performance
The Endowment assets returned 14.1% (2012: 2.6%) for the year 
ended 30 June 2013, which represents a real return after inflation 
of 11.4%. The expected long term real return for the Endowment is 
3.5% p.a. The graphs on page 52 show total Benevolent Society 
returns over the 7 years to 2013. Prior to 2011 the portfolio 
included business assets used for operating its programs.

Current Strategy
Investors continue to face significant uncertainty, whether 
relating to future economic growth, the financial stability of a 
number of countries, the future direction of interest rates or 
volatile currencies. In such circumstances the Committee is of 
the view that it is prudent for the Endowment’s portfolio to be 
well diversified with exposures limited to high quality assets 
and managed with investment expertise. It is more important 
to focus on conditions and risks that may evolve over the next 
3-5 years than on the immediate future. The structure and 
investment exposures of the Endowment reflect this view and 
the Committee will continue to recommend changes to 
exposures accordingly.
During the year the Committee met with the Endowment’s 
investment managers and made some changes to mandates 
and the portfolio structure based on the information 
gathered. At the start of the year the Endowment had a 
tactical tilt in its international equity holdings towards an 
unhedged versus hedged exposure. This reflected a concern 
that the risk of a decline in the Australian dollar exchange rate 
outweighed the risk of further appreciation over the longer 
term. Following a fall in the exchange rate over the year, the 
tilt has been reduced but not yet eliminated.
Mid-way through the year, the Endowment replaced an 
enhanced yield strategy in Australian equities with an index 
strategy. While high yield strategies have continued to perform 
throughout the year, the change reflects a concern about the 
risk of such strategies should economic conditions deteriorate.

 Domestic Equities 35%
  International Equities 11% 

(Unhedged) 

 International Equities  6% 
(Hedged) 

 Domestic Direct 4% 
Property

 Domestic Direct 15% 
Property (proxy)

 Domestic Inflation  13% 
Linked Bonds

 Domestic Fixed Income  5%
 Domestic cash  11%

Actual allocation can be further represented as:
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Finally, the Endowment has continued to hold a tactical tilt 
towards short-term bank deposits rather than traditional 
bond funds to reduce duration risk and take advantage of the 
premiums banks have been willing to pay to increase their 
domestic sources of funding.
The Committee recognises that it is likely that there will be years in 
which the Endowment’s investment returns will fall short of the 
long term objective, but believes its diversified approach and the 
risk reducing tactical positions adopted increases the probability 
of achieving the long term objective. After adjusting for inflation, 
the real return achieved over the seven years to June 2013 has 
been 3.4% p.a., which is in line with the Endowment’s expected 
real return of 3.5% p.a. over the next seven years.

Investment Managers
The Committee appoints investment managers to manage the 
Endowment’s investments. As at 30 June 2013 the following 
managers invested funds on behalf of the Endowment:

 2013  2012
Antares Fixed Income  18%  20%
ANZ Trustees Limited 21%  20%
MLC Investments Limited 17%  4%
Russell Investment Management Limited 5%  35%
BlackRock Investment Management 
(Australia) Limited

15%  –

Cash deposits and direct property are 
managed by The Benevolent Society.

24% 21%

100% 100%

How we spent these funds
During the 2013 financial year The Benevolent Society 
Endowment provided funding of $1,963,000 to support our 
wider innovation strategy and provided the resources to 
enhance and support specific initiatives that had been 
identified and part funded by donors. We invested in the 
following initiatives:

Social Benefit Bonds
Development of the Social Benefit Bond project is an 
important initiative between the NSW Government, The 
Benevolent Society and our consortium partners, Westpac 
and Commonwealth Bank. The consortium has established an 
intensive family support service funded by a social benefit 
bond. The service offers support to families whose children 
are at risk of being placed in out-of-home care. The 
consortium will mobilise sources of private capital to fund the 
service by the issue of a social benefit bond. Social Benefit 
Bonds are financial instruments that pay a return based upon 
the performance of a service provider (in this case The 
Benevolent Society) in addressing a social problem.
Development of social benefit bonds has two benefits for The 
Benevolent Society and the wider charity sector. First it 
provides access to a substantial pool of risk capital that has 
been difficult to access for such innovations. Second it 
provides a model to move evaluation of the sector towards 
outcomes that have a direct benefit for people in need rather 
than simple output measures.
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Growing Communities Together (including Taste Food Tours)
For some time we have worked with the Bankstown 
community to develop community projects to bridge cultural 
and generational gaps, improve employment pathways and 
empower residents to get more involved locally.
Taste Tours uses food to break down the stereotypes and 
builds community pride. Originating in Bankstown, Taste Tours 
now operates in 17 different communities. All tours are led by 
local guides who share their stories of food, culture and place.

Family Health & Mother-Baby Hub
This initiative provides a new model of wellbeing centre for 
families which combines a comprehensive range of GP and 
midwife-led health and community services, all located under 
one roof in Strathpine, Queensland.

Service Delivery Management System
We believe that our employees providing important social 
services deserve the best support. Systematic collection of 
high quality data is central to our program delivery and 
development. In order to ensure that we continue to be a 
leader in technological advances in the Community Services 
sector, the Endowment has enabled us to make further 
investments in our IT and case management systems.
We are implementing a new Service Delivery Management 
System, which will integrate all data collection systems 
resulting in a more comprehensive picture in relation to the 
outcomes of our services. This will strengthen service 
planning, reporting and the identification of key issues for 
clients.

National influence
Influencing social change through research, evaluation, social 
policy development and advocacy is an important part of The 
Benevolent Society. Throughout our history we have 
advocated for change. The contribution from the Endowment 
has allowed The Benevolent Society to engage in advocacy 
that could not be supported from funds directly tied to 
existing projects. This advocacy is not built around access to 
additional funding for our organisation but rather to advocate 
for new initiatives that might be undertaken directly by 
government or where appropriate, the non-government 
sector. This continues our 200 year tradition of developing 
and promoting social support in response to changes in the 
needs of society.
During the year we continued building social policy in the area 
of early intervention, advocated for policy reform in relation 
to the assistance available to vulnerable families seeking 

employment and continued developing best practice in 
evaluation in the non-government sector.
The ability to fund initiatives such as these (especially with 
other organisations) requires patient capital (and the 
awareness that results are not immediate) and involves the 
development of knowledge and infrastructure that is 
notoriously hard to fund through annual donations.

Future plans 
• We propose to use disbursements from the Endowment 

strategically to invest with other donors since we recognise 
social initiatives are more powerful when undertaken 
alongside like-minded donors.

• We will continue to provide a long term investment vehicle 
for donors.

• We will focus on funding new initiatives that have the 
capacity to introduce lasting social change.

The Endowment assets and income are included in the 
Balance Sheet and Statement of Income and Comprehensive 
Income (see Note 22 for more details).
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Statement of Income and   
Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Revenue from continuing operations 4 91,960 81,748

Total revenue from continuing operations 4 91,960 81,748

Expenses

Community program expenses (85,303) (76,318)

Fundraising and communications expenses (1,811) (1,221)

Social initiatives expenses (1,684) (1,577)

Infrastructure and investment expenses (1,922) (1,315)

Total expenses from continuing operations 5(a) (90,720) (80,431)

Surplus before income tax 1,240 1,317

Income tax expense 1(c)
 

–
 

–

Surplus from continuing operations 1,240 1,317

Surplus from discontinued operations 6(b)
 

– 1,788

Surplus for the year 1,240 3,105

Other comprehensive income

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 15(a) 5,019  (690)

Realised gains on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 15(a)  (1,912) (64)

Income tax relating to components of other comprehensive income – –

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
 

3,107
 

(754)

Total comprehensive income for the year 4,347 2,351

The above Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Balance Sheet 
As at 30 June 2013

Notes
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

ASSETS

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 7  27,507 25,224

Trade and other receivables 8 3,006 2,213

Total current assets 30,513 27,437

Non-current assets 

Receivables 9 7,016 6,695

Available-for-sale financial assets 10 42,822 40,321

Held-to-maturity investments 11 100 —

Property, plant and equipment 12 36,937 35,753

Total non-current assets 86,875 82,769

Total assets 117,388 110,206

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 20,358 17,608

Resident contributions 478 540

Total current liabilities 20,836 18,148

Non‑current liabilities

Provisions 14 1,154 1,007

Total non-current liabilities 1,154 1,007

Total liabilities 21,990 19,155

Net assets 95,398 91,051

THE BENEvOLENT SOCIETy FUNDS

Available-for-sale financial assets reserve 15(a) 2,691 (416)

Restricted grants reserve 15(b) 274 274

Retained surplus 15(c) 92,433 91,193

Total funds 95,398 91,051

The above Balance Sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes 
in The Benevolent Society Funds 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes

Restricted 
grants 

reserve 
$’000

Assets 
available
 for sale 

$’000

Retained 
surpluses 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2011 382 338 87,980 88,700

Transfer to retained surpluses  15 (b)  (108)  – 108  –

Surplus for the year  15 (c)  –  – 3,105 3,105

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year 10(d)  – (754)  – (754)

Balance as at 30 June 2012 274 (416) 91,193 91,051

Surplus for the year  15 (c)  –  – 1,240  1,240

Other comprehensive income for the year 10(d)  – 3,107  – 3,107

Balance as at 30 June 2013 274 2,691 92,433 95,398

The above Statement of Changes in The Benevolent Society Funds should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Cash Flow Statement 
For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from government funding and clients (inclusive of goods and services tax) 93,742 81,404

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of goods and services tax) (93,402) (80,747)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 340 657

Cash flows from investing activities 

Payments for property, plant and equipment (4,278) (1,768)

Payments for investments  (25,150)  (18,050)

Managed fund distributions, franking credits and interest received 4,039 3,646

Proceeds from sale of investments 27,274 2,470

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 127 13,713

Net cash inflow from investing activities 2,012 11

Cash flows from financing activities 

Repayment of resident contributions (69) (7,327)

Net cash (outflow) from financing activities (69) (7,327)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,283 (6,659)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 25,224 31,883

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 27,507 25,224

The above Cash Flow Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies 
The principal accounting policies adopted in this financial 
report are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

(a)  Basis of preparation 
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements, and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and 
the Corporations Act 2001. The Benevolent Society is a 
not-for-profit entity for the purpose of preparing this 
financial report.

 (i) Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements
The Benevolent Society’s financial report complies with 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements as issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board (AASB).
The Benevolent Society has continued to disclose the 
following non-required disclosures to assist with 
transparency: financial risk management (Note 2), interest 
rate risk exposure (Note 2(a)), movements in the provision 
for impairment of receivables (Note 8), non-current 
receivables and receivables past due (Note 9(a)), and 
non-current receivables risk exposure (Note 9(b)).

 (ii) Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
available-for-sale financial assets at fair value.

(b)   Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are 
net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as 
follows:
(i) Government grants
The Benevolent Society receives grants from the 
government for the provision of community services. 
Grants received from the government are recognised at 
their fair value when The Benevolent Society has 
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and 
The Benevolent Society will comply with all attached 
conditions. Government grants relating to costs are 
deferred and recognised in the income statement over the 
period necessary to match them with the costs that they 
are intended to compensate.

 (ii) Investment and Interest income
Interest income is recognised when the right to receive 
payment is established.

 (iii) Client and consulting fees
The Benevolent Society provides client and consultancy 
services. Revenue from these services is recognised in the 
period the services are rendered.

 (iv) Sale of goods and disposal of assets
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other 
assets is recognised when The Benevolent Society has 
passed control of the goods or other assets to the buyer.

 (v) Donations 
Donations are recognised when The Benevolent Society has 
control of the contribution. Major donations received for 
specific purposes are deferred and recognised in the 
income statement over the period necessary to match 
them with the costs that they are intended to fund.

(c)  Income Tax
As a public benevolent institution, The Benevolent Society 
is endorsed for income tax exemption under subdivision 
50-B of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

(d)  Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are not transferred to The 
Benevolent Society as Lessee are classified as operating 
leases (note 18). Payments made under operating leases 
(net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged 
to the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income on 
a basis which reflects the pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed. The 
Benevolent Society has no finance lease obligations.
Lease income from operating leases where The Benevolent 
Society is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight line 
basis over the lease term. The respective leased assets are 
included in the balance sheet based on their nature.

(e) Impairment of assets
The Benevolent Society recognises land and buildings using 
the cost model in accordance with AASB 116 Property, 
Plant and Equipment. Property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the asset’s 
fair value less costs to sell, or value in use, whichever is the 
higher. Non-financial assets that have suffered an 
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at each reporting date.
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(f) Cash and cash equivalents
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and 
cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call 
with financial institutions, other short term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of six months or less 
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(g) Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable 
as they are due for settlement no more than 30 days from 
the date of recognition.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable 
are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. 
An allowance for doubtful debts is used when there is 
objective evidence that The Benevolent Society will not be 
able to collect all amounts due, according to the original 
terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in 
payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered 
to be indicators that the trade receivable is doubtful. 
The amount of the impairment allowance and cash flows 
relating to short-term receivables are not discounted as the 
effect of discounting is immaterial.
The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income within 
bad debts expenses. When a trade receivable for which 
an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes 
uncollectable in a subsequent period, it is written off 
against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against bad 
debts in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive 
Income.

(h)  Discontinued operations
A discontinued operation, is defined as a component of the 
entity that is being disposed of, or classified as held for sale, 
and which represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations, and is part of a single 
coordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business or 
area of operations. In July 2011, The Benevolent Society 
sold its remaining aged care facility, Sans Souci Gardens 
Hostel. The results of discontinued operations are 
presented separately in the Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income.
Current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as 
discontinued operations if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction, rather 
than through continuing use. They are measured at the 
lower of their carrying amount and fair value, less costs to 

sell. An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or 
subsequent write down of the asset (or disposal group) to 
fair value less costs to sell. A gain is recognised for any 
subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an 
asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any 
cumulative impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or 
loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the 
non current asset (or disposal group) is recognised at the date 
of derecognition. Current assets are not depreciated or 
amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Interest 
and other expenses attributable to the liabilities of a disposal 
group classified as held for sale continue to be recognised. 
Current assets classified as held for sale, and the assets of a 
disposal group classified as held for sale, are presented 
separately from the other assets in the balance sheet.
The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale 
are presented separately from other liabilities in the 
balance sheet.

(i) Investments and other financial assets
 (i) Classification

The Benevolent Society classifies its investments as 
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the investments were 
acquired. Management determines the classification of its 
investments at initial recognition.

 (ii) Loans and Receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. They are included in current assets, except for 
those with maturities greater than 12 months after the 
reporting period which are classified as non-current assets.

 (iii) Available‑for‑sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise mainly 
managed funds. The Benevolent Society takes a long-
term view with its investment funds by recording only 
income from the portfolios in revenue from continuing 
activities in the Statement of Income and Comprehensive 
Income. They are included in non-current assets unless 
Management intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the Balance Sheet date.

 (iv) Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial 
assets quoted in an active market with fixed or 
determinable payments and fixed maturities that 
Management has the positive intention and ability to hold 
to maturity. If Management were to sell other than an 
insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, 
the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as 
available-for-sale.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(continued)

Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-
current assets, except for those with maturities less than 
12 months from the end of the reporting period, which 
would be classified as current assets.

 (v) Recognition and derecognition
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on 
trade date – the date on which The Benevolent Society 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are 
de-recognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred, 
and The Benevolent Society has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership. When securities 
classified as available-for-sale are sold or impaired, the 
accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in The 
Benevolent Society’s funds are included in the Statement of 
Income and Comprehensive Income as gains and losses 
from investment securities.

 (vi) Measurement
At initial recognition, The Benevolent Society measures an 
available-for-sale financial asset at its fair value plus, in the 
case of a financial asset not at fair value through the 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of 
financial assets carried at fair value through the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income are expensed in the Statement 
of Income and Comprehensive Income.
Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried 
at fair value. Changes in the fair value of investments 
classified as available-for-sale are recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income.

 (vii) Impairment
Impairment of assets carried at fair value 
At each balance date, The Benevolent Society assesses 
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of 
managed funds classified as available-for-sale, a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of a fund below its 
cost is considered as an indicator that the funds are 
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale 
financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair 
value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in the Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income – is reclassified from The 
Benevolent Society’s funds and recognised in the 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.
Impairment losses recognised in the Statement of Income 
and Comprehensive Income on investments classified as 

available-for-sale are not reversed through the Statement 
of Income and Comprehensive Income.

 Impairment of assets carried at amortised cost 
For held-to-maturity investments, the amount of the 
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s 
original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in profit or loss. If a held-to-maturity investment has a 
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring 
any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, 
The Benevolent Society may measure impairment on the 
basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable 
market price.

(j) Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings are shown at deemed cost as at 
transition to Australian Equivalent of International 
Reporting Standards (AIFRS) date. All other property, 
plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less 
depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that  
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets.
Costs incurred in developing products or systems 
and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses 
that will contribute to future period financial benefits 
through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are 
capitalised to software and systems. Costs capitalised 
include external direct costs of materials and service and 
direct payroll and payroll related costs of employees’ 
time spent on the project. Amortisation is calculated on 
a straight-line basis over periods generally ranging from 
3 to 5 years. IT development costs include only those 
costs directly attributable to the development phase and 
are only recognised following completion of technical 
feasibility and where Management has an intention and 
ability to use the asset.
Assets are generally capitalised if greater than $5,000. 
If Government funding contracts state a different level 
for capitalisation, then that level is applied in relation to 
assets purchased under the specific Government contract.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to The Benevolent 
Society and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of any component 
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when 
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
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to the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is 
calculated using the straight line method to allocate their 
cost, net of their residual values, over their estimated 
useful lives, as follows: 
 
Buildings 40 years

Plant and equipment 3–10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note 1(e)).
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the 
Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income.

(k) Intangible assets
 IT development and software 

Costs incurred in developing products or systems and 
costs incurred in acquiring software and licences that will 
contribute to future period financial benefits through 
revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised 
to IT software. Costs capitalised include external direct 
costs of materials and service. Amortisation is calculated 
on a straight-line basis over periods generally ranging 
from 3 to 5 years. IT development costs include only 
those costs directly attributable to the development 
phase and are only recognised following completion of 
technical feasibility and where The Benevolent Society 
has an intention and ability to use the asset.

(l) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and 
services provided to The Benevolent Society prior to the 
end of financial year which are unpaid. The amounts are 
unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. Trade and other payables are presented as 
current liabilities unless payment is due later than 12 
months from the reporting date. They are recognised at 
cost.

(m) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when The Benevolent Society 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount 
has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the cost of the best estimate 
of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date. The amount of the 
expenditure relating to provisions are not discounted as 
the effect of discounting is immaterial.
Resident contributions are payable on vacation of a unit 
by a resident, and are defined as the amounts Hostel 
and Village residents loan to The Benevolent Society by 
deed of loan, less the amount allowed to be retained by 
The Benevolent Society, as determined by the deed of 
the loan.

(n) Employee benefits
 (i) Wages and salaries, annual leave

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including nonmonetary 
benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 
12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in other 
payables in respect of employees’ services up to the 
reporting date and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

 (ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The obligations are 
presented as current liabilities in the Balance Sheet if the 
entity does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date, regardless of when the actual settlement is 
expected to occur.

 (iii) On-costs
Employee benefit on-costs, including superannuation and 
workers compensation, are recognised and included in 
employee benefit expenses when the employee benefits 
to which they relate are recognised as liabilities.

 (iv) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when 
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange 
for these benefits. The Benevolent Society recognises 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed 
to either terminating the employment of current 
employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility of withdrawal or providing termination 
benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Benefits falling due more than 12 
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months after the end of the reporting period are 
discounted to present value.

(o) Goods and Services Tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority. In this case it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset 
or as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority is included with other receivables or payables 
in the balance sheet.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or 
payable to, the taxation authority, are presented as 
operating cash flows.

(p) Rounding of amounts
The Benevolent Society is of a kind referred to in Class 
Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the ‘rounding off’ of 
amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial 
report have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain 
cases, the nearest dollar.

(q) New accounting standards and interpretations 
AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 9, AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) and AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of 
AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures (effective from 1 
January 2015)
AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, 
measurement and derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities. The standard is not applicable until 1 
January 2015 but is available for early adoption. When 
adopted, the standard will affect in particular The 
Benevolent Society’s accounting for its available-for-sale 
financial assets, since AASB 9 only permits the 
recognition of fair value gains and losses in other 
comprehensive income if they relate to equity 
investments that are not held for trading. Fair value gains 
and losses on available-for-sale financial assets, for 
example, will therefore have to be recognised directly in 

profit or loss. In the current reporting period, The 
Benevolent Society recognised $3,107,000 of such gains 
in other comprehensive income.
There will be no impact on The Benevolent Society’s 
accounting for financial liabilities, as the new 
requirements only affect the accounting for financial 
liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit 
or loss and The Benevolent Society does not have any 
such liabilities. The derecognition rules have been 
transferred from AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement and have not been 
changed. The Benevolent Society will adopt the new 
standard from its operative date.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, AASB 11 
Joint Arrangements, AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in 
Other Entities, revised AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements, AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures, AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and 
Joint Arrangements Standards and AASB 2012-10 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments (effective 1 
January 2013) 
In August 2011, the AASB issued a suite of five new and 
amended standards which address the accounting for 
joint arrangements, consolidated financial statements 
and associated disclosures. AASB 10 replaces all of the 
guidance on control and consolidation in AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, and 
Interpretation 12 Consolidation – Special Purpose 
Entities. The core principle that a consolidated entity 
presents a parent and its subsidiaries as if they are a 
single economic entity remains unchanged, as do the 
mechanics of consolidation. However, the standard 
introduces a single definition of control that applies to all 
entities. It focuses on the need to have both power and 
rights or exposure to variable returns. The Benevolent 
Society does not expect the new standard to have a 
significant impact on its financial statements.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising 
from AASB 13 (effective 1 January 2013) 
AASB 13 was released in September 2011. It explains 
how to measure fair value and aims to enhance fair 
value disclosures. The Benevolent Society will adopt the 
new standard from its operative date, which means that 
it will be applied in the annual reporting period ending 
30 June 2014.
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2. Financial risk management
The Benevolent Society’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk and price risk), credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The Benevolent Society’s overall financial risk management program focuses on financial markets and seeks to 
control potential adverse effects on the long term financial performance of The Benevolent Society. The Benevolent Society uses 
different investments to minimise certain risk exposures. At call accounts, bank bills and term deposits are exclusively used for 
short-term purposes of excess cash flow. Managed Funds and bonds are used for medium and long term investment purposes where 
a greater risk tolerance is accepted.
The Benevolent Society holds the following financial instruments: 

Notes 2013 2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents  7  27,507 25,224

Trade and other receivables  8 3,006 2,213

Non-current receivables 9  7,016 6,695

Available-for-sale financial assets 10 42,822 40,321

Held-to-maturity investments  11 100 –

80,451 74,453

Financial liabilities

Trade payables  13 4,727 2,841

Other payables 13 3,039 2,927

Resident contributions 478 540

Government funding received in advance  13 8,530 8,498

16,774 14,806

Notes to the Financial Statements 
(continued)
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(a) Market risk

 (i) Foreign exchange risk
The Benevolent Society operates within Australia and therefore is not exposed to direct foreign exchange risk. The Benevolent 
Society is indirectly exposed to foreign exchange risk due to global equities included in funds under management.

 (ii) Price risk
The Benevolent Society does not directly invest in equities and therefore is not exposed to direct price risk. The Benevolent Society is 
exposed to equity securities price risk as it invests indirectly in the equity market through its investment fund managers. The 
Benevolent Society is not exposed directly to commodity price risk but does have an indirect exposure via its investment in the 
equity market.

 (iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Benevolent Society’s main interest rate risk arises from short term investments and Goodstart Early Learning Loan Notes. 
The risk is reduced due to the fixed rates associated with the Goodstart notes.
The Benevolent Society uses a combination of variable and fixed rate investments to manage its interest rate risk.
The Benevolent Society’s overall exposure to interest rate risk and the effective weighted average interest rate by maturity 
periods is set out in the following table:

Average 
interest 

rate

variable 
interest 

rate

Fixed interest maturing in: Non 
interest 
bearing

Total
2013

Total
20121 year 

or less
1 to 5
years

Over 5 
years

% $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets

Cash 3.08 5,968 – – – – 5,968 8,206

Short term deposits 4.44 – 21,539 – – – 21,539 17,018

Trade and other 
receivables

– – – – – 3,006 3,006 2,213

Non-current receivables 15.00 – – 3,508 3,508 – 7,016 6,695

Held-to-maturity
Investments

5.00 – – 100 – – 100 –

Available-for-sale
financial assets

– – – – – 42,822 42,822 40,321

5,968 21,539 3,608 3,508 45,828 80,451 74,453

Financial liabilities

Trade payables – – – – – 4,727 4,727 2,841

Other payables – – – – – 3,039 3,039 2,927

Government funding 
received inadvance

– – – – – 8,530 8,530 8,498

Resident contributions 
payable

– – – – – 478 478 540

– – – – 16,774 16,774 14,806

Net financial assets 5,968 21,539 3,608 3,508 29,054 63,677 59,647
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(b) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and 
deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The 
Benevolent Society uses banks and financial institutions 
with a minimum credit rating of AA. There is no 
concentration of credit risk with respect to current and 
non-current receivables, as The Benevolent Society has a 
large number of clients, dispersed throughout New South 
Wales and Queensland, Australia. The majority of clients 
are required to settle using direct debit or major credit 
cards. The funding provided by government is also spread 
between Australian federal and state government funding.
During the year The Benevolent Society invested $100,000 
in Newpin Social Benefit Bonds (SBB). The Newpin SBB will 
pay a minimum coupon of 5% per annum over the first 
three years. Principal protection is 75% in the first three 
years and 50% from four to seven years. As the investment 
is held-to-maturity the maximum exposure to credit risk at 
the end of the reporting period is 75% of the carrying 
amount of the investment.

(c) Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining 
sufficient cash and marketable securities. The Benevolent 
Society manages liquidity risk by monitoring forecast and 
actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of 
financial assets and liabilities. 83% (2012: 81%) of The 
Benevolent Society’s funding is provided in advance by 
government and surplus funds are generally only invested 
in instruments that are tradeable in highly liquid markets.

(d) Fair value measurements
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
must be estimated for recognition and measurement and 
for disclosure purposes.
AASB 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures requires 
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the 
following fair value measurement hierarchy:
(a)  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities (level 1),
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within level 

1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) 
(level 2), and

(c)  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

 The following table presents The Benevolent Society’s 
financial assets and liabilities measured and recognised at 
fair value at 30 June 2013.

 
Level 1 

$’000
Level 2 

$’000
Level 3 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Available-for-sale  
financial assets

Investments – 
managed funds 42,822 – – 42,822

Total available-for-sale 
financial assets 42,822 – – 42,822

 The Benevolent Society uses fair value estimation for 
medium to long-term investments in managed funds. 
The Benevolent Society’s managed funds are carried 
at fair value which approximates current market value. 
The Benevolent Society enters into a range of managed 
fund portfolios to manage risk in accordance with our 
Investment Policy approved by the Board of Directors. This 
policy has been complied with during the year.

 The carrying values less impairment provision of trade 
receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
their fair values due to their short term nature. The fair 
values of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes are 
estimated to approximate their carrying values due to the 
holding term.

3.  Critical accounting estimates  
and judgments

The Benevolent Society makes estimates and assumptions 
concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. There 
are no estimates or assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact 
and that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(continued)

4. Revenue

Notes
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

(a) From continuing operations

Government funding 76,037 67,902

Client fees and charges 6,190 6,345

Bequests and legacies 275 629

Corporate funding 699 549

Trusts and foundations 21(a) 1,574 1,204

Fundraising appeals and events 21(a) 764 821

Treasury funded superannuation 36 37

Other income 4(d) 348 530

85,923 78,017

(b) From investments

Interest 2,277 2,456

Investment distributions 1,848 1,807

Realised gain/(loss) on sale of investments 1,912 (532)

22 6,037 3,731

Total revenue from continuing operations 91,690 81,748

(c) From discontinued operations

Government funding – 53

Client fees and charges – 58

Net profit on sale of assets – 1,806

Resident retentions – 7

Total revenue from discontinued operations 6(b) – 1,924

Total revenue 91,960 83,672

(d) Other income

Rent 375 288

Resident retentions 24 24

Reimbursements 98 122

Sale of goods 86 49

Net profit/(loss) on sale of property, plant & equipment (235) 47

Total 348 530
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5. Expenses

Notes
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

(a) Expenses from continuing operations

Salaries and wages 56,311 53,258

Administration expenses 4,340 3,462

Information technology 2,418 1,251

Fundraising and communications 1,995 982

Travel and transport 2,604 2,286

Client and brokerage expenditure 9,871 7,690

Community partners 4,867 4,050

Property and equipment maintenance 5,572 5,684

Impairment of buildings 12(c) 949  –

Depreciation and amortisation 1,793 1,768

Total expenses from continuing operations 90,720 80,431

(b) Expenses from discontinued operations

Salaries and wages – 96

Administration expenses – 6

Client and brokerage expenditure – 11

Property and equipment maintenance – 23

Total expenses from discontinued operations 6(b) – 136

Total expenses 90,720 80,567

(c) Surplus before income tax includes the following specific expenses:

Depreciation

Buildings 272 319

IT Software 182 –

Plant and equipment 1,339 1,449

Total depreciation 1,793 1,768

Rental expenses relating to operating leases

Lease payments 2,624 2,297

Net transfers to provisions

Employee entitlements 1,416 387

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable 16 15



Notes to the Financial Statements 69

Notes to the Financial Statements 
(continued)

6. Discontinued operations
(a) Description
On 19 May 2008 The Benevolent Society began implementing its decision to cease operating aged care nursing homes and hostels. 
During the 2009 financial year, The Benevolent Society transitioned out of all its aged care nursing homes and the majority of 
hostels, with the remaining hostel, Sans Souci Gardens, being sold in August 2011.

(b) Financial performance 

Notes
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Revenue 4 – 1,924

Expenses 5 – (136)

Surplus before income tax – 1,788 

Income tax expense –  –

Surplus from discontinued operations – 1,788

Net cash inflow from operating activities – 1

Net cash inflow from investing activities – 3,605

Net cash (outflow) from financing activities – (7,302)

Net (decrease) in cash generated by discontinued operations – (3,696)

Assets – –

Liabilities – –

Net assets (liabilities) – –

7. Current assets – Cash and cash equivalents
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Cash at bank and on hand 5,968 8,206

Short term deposit – working capital 10,370 8,000

Short term deposit – Endowment 11,169 9,018

27,507 25,224

The Benevolent Society holds working capital cash reserves of $16,338,000 (2012: $16,206,000). This includes residential 
contributions held of $478,000 (2012: $540,000) and government and trust funding provided for specific purpose of $8,530,000 
(2012: $8,498,000). Refer to note 13.
The related expenditure will not occur until a future period and The Benevolent Society is restricted in its use of these funds by 
the terms and conditions of the funding.
At the end of the Financial Year The Benevolent Society also held Endowment cash reserves in market term deposits of 
$11,169,000 (2012: $9,018,000).
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(a) Cash at bank and on hand
These are interest bearing cheque accounts with an average rate of 1.25% (2012: 1.29%) and at call accounts with rates 
between 2.70% and 3.45% (2012: 3.45% and 4.70%). 

(b) Short term deposit
Deposits are with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia and ANZ Bank. Term deposit rates are between 4.00% and 5.49% (2012: 
4.61% and 6.20%). These deposits have a maturity of 30 to 244 days.

(c) Interest rate risk exposure
The Benevolent Society’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note 2.

(d) Reconciliation of cash at the end of the year
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows as follows:

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

27,507 25,224

Balances as per Cashflow Statement 27,507 25,224

8. Current assets – Trade and other receivables
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Trade receivables 1,230 1,104

Provision for impairment of receivables (5) (21)

Investment Income receivable 770 264

1,995 1,347

Prepayments 1,011 866

3,006 2,213

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

At 1 July 21 18

Provision for write-off recognised during the year 46 42

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (16) (15)

Unused amount reversed (46) (24)

5 21

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in ‘community program expenditure’ in 
the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income. Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off 
when there is no expectation of recovery.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
(continued)

9. Non-current assets – Receivables
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Receivables 7,016 6,695

The receivables outstanding at the end of the current year are subordinated and deeply subordinated notes in Goodstart Early 
Learning of $5,000,000 (2012: $5,000,000) and capitalised interest earned to date on these notes of $2,016,000 (2012: 
$1,695,000).

(a)  Impaired receivables and receivables past due
 None of the non-current receivables are impaired or past due but not impaired.
(b) Risk exposure
 Information about The Benevolent Society’s exposure to credit risk and interest rate risk is provided in note 2.

10. Non-current assets – Other financial assets
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Other financial assets available‑for‑sale

At fair value: 
Investments at the end of the year were managed as follows:

BlackRock Investment Management Limited 8,675 –

JANA Investment Advisers Pty Ltd (JANA) 10,022 –

ANZ Executors and Trustees Company Limited 11,823 10,138

MLC Investments Limited 9,299 12,255

Russell Investment Management Group 3,003 17,928

42,822 40,321

(a) Managed funds 
 The managed funds hold assets in line with The Benevolent Society’s approved asset allocation. An approved disbursement  
 of $1,963,000 (2012: $1,988,000) was used to fund The Benevolent Society’s social initiatives.

(b) Investments in related parties 
Refer to note 19 for information on available-for-sale financial assets held in related parties.

(c) Non-current assets pledged as security 
The Benevolent Society does not hold any non-current assets pledged as security.
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(d) Impairment and risk exposure 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the managed funds classified as available-for-sale.

 The net increase in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets of $3,107,000 (2012: net decrease of $754,000) has 
been recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income for the year and taken to equity in the available-for-sale 
financial assets reserve. This net change is comprised of $5,019,000 unrealised gain (2012: $690,000 unrealised loss) less 
$1,912,000 realised gain on disposal of investments (2012: $64,000 realised loss). Refer to note 22.

 All available-for-sale financial assets are denominated in Australian currency. For an analysis of the sensitivity of available-for-
sale financial assets to price and interest rate risk refer to note 2.

11. Non-current assets – Held-to-maturity investments

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Social Benefit Bond 100 –

(a) Social Benefit Bonds 
  The carrying amount of the investment in the Newpin Social Benefit Bond is $100,000 (2012: nil). Refer to Note 2(b).

(b) Impairment and risk exposure 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is 75% of the carrying amount of the investment. 
Refer to Note 2(b).

 The Social Benefit Bond is denominated in Australian currency. As a result, there is no exposure to foreign currency risk. 
There is also no exposure to price risk as the investments will be held to maturity.
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12. Non-current assets – Property, plant and equipment
Work In Progress

Assets in the 
course of 

construction 
$’000

IT 
Development 
and Software 

$’000
Land 

$’000
Buildings

$’000

IT 
Software

$’000

Plant and 
equipment

$’000
Total

$’000

Gross carrying amount

Balance as at 1 July 2012 94 77 21,062 11,687 1,040 10,102 44,062

Additions 1,498 2,120 – – 283 377 4,278

Reclassification (1,075) (591) 826 (826) 591 1,075 –

Impairment – – – (2,026) – (52) (2,078)

Disposals – – – – (520) (1,405) (1,925)

Balance as at 30 June 2013 517 1,606 21,888 8,835 1,394 10,097 44,337

Accumulated depreciation

Balance as at 1 July 2012 – – – (3,310) (786) (4,213) (8,309)

Reclassification – – – – – – –

Impairment – – – 1,087 – 42 1,129

Disposals – – – – 520 1,053 1,573

Depreciation expense – – – (272) (182) (1,339) (1,793)

Balance as at 30 June 2013 – – – (2,495) (448) (4,457) (7,400)

Net book value 2013 517 1,606 21,888 6,340 946 5,640 36,937

Net book value 2012 94 77 21,062 8,377 254 5,889 35,753

(a)   Leased assets 
The Benevolent Society did not have any finance leases (2012: nil).

(b)  Valuations of land and buildings
Land and buildings were deemed at cost as at transition to AIFRS date (1 July 2004). Valuations performed between 
September and November 2011 by Dobrow Valuations showed recoverable values as greater than carrying values thus an 
impairment loss did not occur (refer note 1(e)), with the exception of Note 12(c).
Buildings on crown land are valued at $3,050,000 (2012: $6,350,000).

(c) Impairment of buildings 
During the 2013 financial year there was an impairment in relation to buildings erected on Crown Land, due to the expiry of 
the Crown Lease. The impairment expense was $949,000 (2012: nil).

(d) Restricted assets
The Benevolent Society does not have any material restrictions on title, property, plant and equipment. Minor restrictions 
relating to approved plant and equipment purchases through government funded contracts may include asset maintenance, 
security, risk responsibility, any insurance and registration requirements, disposal approval requirements and using the asset 
for the purpose for which it was funded. 
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13. Current liabilities – Trade and other payables
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Trade payables 4,727 2,841

Other payables 3,039 2,927

Unexpended grants: Government funding received in advance 8,530 8,498

Employee benefits – annual leave 3,472 2,810

Employee benefits – long service leave 590 532

20,358 17,608

Risk exposure 
Information about The Benevolent Society’s exposure to foreign exchange risk is provided in note 2.

14. Non-current liabilities – Provisions
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

Employee benefits – long service leave 1,154 1,007

15. Reserves and retained surplus
2013 

$’000
2012 

$’000

(a) Available‑for‑sale financial assets reserve

Balance 1 July 2012 (416) 338

Transfer to Statement of Income on disposal of investments (1,912) (64)

Changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income 5,019 (690)

Balance 30 June 2013 2,691 (416)

(b) Restricted grants reserve

Balance 1 July 2012 274 382

Transfer to accumulated surplus of restricted grant expenditure during the year – (108)

Balance 30 June 2013 274 274

(c) Retained surplus 

Balance 1 July 2012 91,193 87,980

Net surplus for the year 1,240 3,105

Transfer from restricted grants reserve during the year – 108

Balance 30 June 2013 92,433 91,193
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(d) Available‑for‑sale financial assets revaluation reserve 
Changes in the fair value of managed fund investments classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are taken to this 
reserve, as described in note 1(i).

(e) Restricted grants reserve
Restricted grants received in advance from government, major donors, trusts and foundations are recognised when The 
Benevolent Society has control of the contribution. The reserve represents grants received during previous financial years 
over which The Benevolent Society was deemed to have control. The related expenditure the grants are intended to 
compensate will not occur until a future period and The Benevolent Society is restricted in its use of these funds by the terms 
and conditions of the grant.

16. Key management personnel disclosures 
(a) Directors

The following people were non-executive Directors of The Benevolent Society during the financial year:

Sam Weiss (Chairman) AB Harvard University, MS Columbia Business School, FAICD since 14 July 2005

Robert Fitzgerald (Deputy Chairman) AM BCom, LLB since 20 November 2006 to 23 July 2013

Robert Warren (Chairman, Audit, Finance and Risk Committee) BEc, CA, GDIPAppFin, GAICD since 19 July 2010

Tim Beresford BEc (Hons), LLB, MPhil (International Relations) ASIA, MAICD since 14 February 2013

Jan Carter AM MPhil, MSci (Econ), BA, Dip SocStud since 4 April 2011

Lisa Chung LLB, FAIM, FAPI, MAICD since 27 June 2011

Kathleen Conlon BA (Econ), MBA since 14 February 2013

Tanya Gilerman BEc, ACA, CPA since 15 March 2005 to 3 September 2012

Karen Healy PhD, BSocWk (Hons) since 4 April 2011

Joan Lind BA from 18 August 2008 to 27 September 2011, then from 30 September 2011 to 18 March 2013

Gary Moore BA, BSocWk, MMgt since 20 November 2006

Justin Ryan BEc, LLB (Sydney), MBA (Wharton), F Fin, FAICD since 15 August 2008

(b) Directors’ compensation
Directors of The Benevolent Society are not remunerated.
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(c) Other key management personnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of The 
Benevolent Society, directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

Geoff Aigner Director Social Leadership Australia

Damien Byers Director Human Resources since March 2013

Sarah Fogg Acting General Manager Social Policy and Research since September 2012

Matthew Gardiner State Director Queensland since March 2013

Wendy Haigh Chief Financial Officer / General Manager Corporate Services / Company Secretary 

Steve Hawkins General Manager Business Development

Anne Hollonds Chief Executive Officer

Elaine Leong Company Secretary / General Counsel to December 2012

Annette Michaux General Manager Social Policy and Research to September 2012

Alexandra Rose Company Secretary / General Counsel since October 2012

Nicole Schleicher General Manager Community Services 

Joanne Toohey State Director New South Wales since April 2013

Tracey young Head of Communications

(d) Other key management personnel compensation

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Short term employee benefits (total compensation) 1,647 1,499

(e) Loans to key management personnel
The Benevolent Society does not hold any loans with key management personnel.

(f) Other transactions with key personnel
During the year, The Benevolent Society has entered into deeds of access, indemnity and insurance for the benefit of key 
management personnel.

17. Contingencies 
The Benevolent Society had no contingent liabilities at 30 June 2013 (2012: nil) in relation to continuing operations. The 
Benevolent Society had no contingent assets at 30 June 2013 (2012: nil).

18. Commitments 
(a) Capital commitments 

The Benevolent Society had commitments for $781,000 of capital expenditure payable within one year, contracted for at the 
reporting date in addition to that already recognised as liabilities (2012: nil).
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(b) Operating lease commitments

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Commitments in relation to rental of premises contracted for at the reporting date but not 
recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within 1 year 1,941 1,896

Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 4,730 4,232

Later than 5 years 1,019 1,716

7,690 7,844

(c) Repairs and maintenance: property
The Benevolent Society had no contractual obligation for future repairs and maintenance in existence at the reporting date 
other than those recognised as liabilities.

(d) Remuneration commitments
The Benevolent Society had no commitments for the payment of salaries and other remuneration under long term 
employment contracts in existence at the reporting date other than those recognised as liabilities.

19. Related party transactions 
(a) Social ventures Australia

The Benevolent Society is one of the four founding members of Social Ventures Australia Limited. Social Ventures Australia 
Limited is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and operating in Australia.
During the year The Benevolent Society invested $100,000 (2012: nil) in Newpin Social Benefit Bonds. Newpin SBB Pty Ltd is 
the Trustee and Social Ventures Australia is the manager of the Newpin SBB Trust.
In 2013 there were no financial transactions between The Benevolent Society and Social Ventures Australia Limited (2012: nil).

(b) Goodstart Early Learning
The Benevolent Society is one of four founding members of Goodstart Early Learning. Goodstart is a company limited by 
guarantee, incorporated and operating in Australia.
In 2013 The Benevolent Society had interest income of $1,043,000 (2012: $880,000) and $7,016,000 (2012: $6,695,00)
principal and capitalised interest receivable in relation to subordinated and deeply subordinated notes in Goodstart Early 
Learning.

(c) The Benevolent Society Social Benefit Trust No 1
The Benevolent Society has been appointed as the manager and is the sole Initial Charitable Member of The Benevolent 
Society Social Benefit Trust No 1. The Trust was established in June 2013 to raise funds for, and otherwise assist and support, 
children and families in New South Wales who are disadvantaged, in need or vulnerable through the trial of a pilot social 
benefit bond. The Benevolent Society will be engaged as a subcontractor of the Trust to provide intensive family support 
services to families whose children are at risk of being placed in out-of-home care. There were no financial transactions 
between The Benevolent Society and The Benevolent Society Social Benefit Trust No 1 in 2013.

(d) Transactions with Directors
In 2012/13 The Benevolent Society has entered into deeds of access, indemnity and insurance for the benefit of Directors.

(e) Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 16.
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20. Events occurring after the reporting period 
Subsequent to balance date, The Benevolent Society agreed to invest $1,000,000 in Social Benefit Bonds to be issued by 
Perpetual Corporate Trust Limited as trustee for The Benevolent Society Social Benefit Trust No.1.
The purpose of the issue of the Social Benefit Bonds is to finance a $10,000,000 intensive family support service. The service 
offers support to families whose children are at risk of being placed in out-of-home care. The service will be conducted by The 
Benevolent Society over a 5 year period.
There has not been any other matter or circumstance that has arisen since the end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of The Benevolent Society, the results of those operations, or the state of 
affairs of The Benevolent Society in future financial years.

21. Additional information furnished under the NSW Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the 
Regulations

(a) Details of aggregate gross income and expenditure of fundraising appeals

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Gross proceeds of fundraising from trusts and foundations 1,574 1,204

Gross proceeds of fundraising appeals and events 764 821

Total proceeds of fundraising 2,338 2,025

Total direct costs of fundraising appeals and events (see (i) below) (379) (274)

Net surplus from fundraising 1,959 1,751

(b) Statement showing how funds received were applied to charitable purposes

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Net surplus from fundraising 1,959 1,751

This was applied to charitable purposes in the following manner:

Community program expenditure 75,556 68,079

Administration expenses (i) 13,835 12,078

Total cost of community programs 89,391 80,157

Discontinued operations expenditure (refer note 6) – 136

Total charitable purpose expenditure 89,391 80,293

Shortfall in funds available from fundraising (ii) 87,432 78,542

(i) Administration expenses include depreciation, impairment, bequest expenditure, and a portion of indirect overheads including Finance, Corporate 
Support, Information Technology, Asset Management, Social Policy & Research, Fundraising and Communications.

(ii) Shortfall in funds available from fundraising is funded through government contracts, endowment income distributions, investment income, corporate 
funding, client fees and bequests.
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(c) Shortfall of funds available from fundraising was financed from the following sources:

2013 
$’000

2012 
$’000

Government grants and subsidies 76,037 67,902

Client fees 6,190 6,345

Bequests and legacies 275 629

(Surplus) / deficit for the year (1,240) (3,105)

Interest, dividend and managed fund distribution revenue 6,037 3,731

Other income 133 3,040

Shortfall in funds available from fundraising 87,432 78,542

d) Fundraising appeals and events conducted during the financial year
This year we reached out to our existing donors with 4 appeals asking them to support our child and family services. These 
donors also received 2 supporter newsletters updating them about our programs and sharing success stories. We also sent 
out 3 appeals to the general public to reach out to new donors. Celebrating 200 years gave us the opportunity to create some 
new fundraising events and this is still continuing. Significant events in the past year included our inaugural Race for Change 
corporate bike race, public collections at State Rail stations on our birthday in May 2013, and fundraising through community 
events like the City to Surf and Gold Coast Marathon. Events held by volunteer committees such as the Scarba Volunteers 
Family Fund and Friends of Scarba helped raise funds for our early years programs.

(e) Fundraising ratios

 
$’000

2013
%

 
$’000

2012
%

Total cost of fundraising : Gross income from fundraising 379 : 2,338 16 274 : 2,025 14

Net surplus from fundraising : Gross income from fundraising 1,959 : 2,338 84 1,751 : 2,025 86

Total cost of community programs : Total expenditure 75,556 : 90,720 83 68,079 : 80,567 85

Total cost of community programs : Total revenue from continuing activities 75,556 : 91,960 82 68,079 : 81,748 83

 These comparisons and percentages are required to be disclosed under the NSW Charitable Fundraising Act 1991.
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22. Endowment investments
The Endowment assets and income are included in The Benevolent Society’s Balance Sheet and Statement of Income and 
Comprehensive Income as follows: 

Notes
Endowment 

$’000
Operations 

$’000
Total 

$’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 11,169 16,338 27,507

Other assets 8  – 3,006 3,006

Non-current assets

Receivables 9  – 7,016 7,016

Other financial assets 10,11 42,822  100 42,922

Property, plant and equipment* 12 2,240 34,697 36,937

Total assets 56,231 61,157 117,388

Statement of income

Interest 435 1,842 2,277

Investment distributions 1,848  – 1,848

Realised gain on sale of investments 1,912  – 1,912

Total income 4(b) 4,195 1,842 6,037

Other comprehensive income  

Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets 15(a) 5,019 – –

Realised gains on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 15(a) (1,912) – –

Total income 10(d) 3,107 – –

(*November 2011 valuation of the Endowment property was $2,240,000)

The assets in the Endowment are assets that may be readily bought, or sold, and can be valued. Business assets that are 
important to The Benevolent Society’s delivery of charitable works are excluded, as is working capital. The types of asset held 
are those that an investor would expect to see in a well-managed, diversified investment portfolio. Direct property holdings, 
despite their comparative illiquidity, will be held if unencumbered and not required for business purposes.
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Directors’ Declaration 
30 June 2013

In the Directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 35 to 80 are in accordance with the Corporations 
Act 2001, including:

 (i) complying with Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure requirement, the Corporations 
Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements, and

 (ii)  giving a true and fair view of The Benevolent Society’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of 
its performance for the financial year ended on that date, and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that The Benevolent Society will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

 

Robert Warren 
Chairman of the Audit, Finance and Risk Committee 
Sydney 
23 September 2013
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Declaration by the Chairman 
30 June 2013

Declaration by Chairman in respect of fundraising appeals
I, Sam Weiss, Chairman of The Benevolent Society declare that in my opinion:

(a) the Statement of Income and Comprehensive Income gives a true and fair view of all income and 
expenditure of The Benevolent Society with respect to fundraising appeals; and

(b) the balance sheet gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals; and
(c) the provisions of the NSW Charitable Fundraising Act 1991, the Regulations under the Act and the 

conditions attached to the authority have been complied with; and
(d) the internal controls exercised by The Benevolent Society are appropriate and effective in accounting for 

all income received and applied by The Benevolent Society from all of its fundraising appeals.

Sam Weiss 
Chairman 
Sydney 
23 September 2013



Independent Auditor’s Report 83



84 Benevolent Society Annual Report 2013



From life on  
the streets to 
doting mum

Their story is our story. 
The moment Kim discovered she was pregnant with Poppy, she 
vowed to beat her drug addiction and leave the streets behind. 

Benevolent Society believes in acting early. Really early.  
That’s why we started helping Kim long before Poppy was born.

Support people fighting for a fresh start.  

The heart of changebenevolent.org.au



National Office
Level 1, 188 Oxford St
Paddington NSW 2021
(PO Box 171 Paddington)
T 02 8262 3400
F 02 9360 2319

www.benevolent.org.au

Donations 1800 819 633
ABN 95 084 695 045

Our Annual Report plays an important role in our 
ongoing stakeholder communications. We use it to 
demonstrate how we have performed financially, and 
how we are tracking against our strategic goals, but it 
only tells part of our story. Our website, our social media 
sites and our other print and digital publications also 
help us to deliver progress reports, share our success 
stories, call for action and invite people to join us in 
working for a just Australia where everyone thrives.

Visit www.benevolent.org.au to find out more about 
how we’re making a difference every day.

We help people change their lives 
through support and education and 
we speak out for a just society where 
everyone thrives.

We’re Australia’s first charity. We’re 
a not-for-profit and non-religious 
organisation and we’ve helped people, 
families and communities achieve 
positive change for 200 years.

We are The  
Benevolent Society




